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BE | T REMEMBERED that on April 30, 2026, at
9:05 a.m, the followi ng proceedings were held via
vi deoconference before Janette Curl ey, Washington State
Certified Stenographic Court Reporter.

VHEREUPON, the follow ng proceedi ngs were had,

to wit:

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: It is April 30, 2026, at
approximately 9:05 a.m | am Jason Jenkins, chair of
t he Washington Electrical Board. 1'd like to call this
meeting to order. First, | want to say thank you to

all the people attending, taking time out of your day
and being here. Mich appreciate it.

This neeting is taking place over the Zoom
platform 1'd like to ask that all individuals
participating in the neeting, |ess board nenbers, turn
of f your canmeras and nute your m crophones until you
are called on. Further, we have a court reporter
taki ng everything down. And the renpote nature of the
meetings nmakes it inperative that only one person at a
time is speaking. | would ask that you identify
yourself prior to speaking for the court reporter so we
can get your conments on record.

So noving on, right off the get-go here, Item

Number 1, our safety nessage. And it sounds Ilike,
Page 3
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Wayne Mol esworth, you are on the floor. And you're

nmut ed.

SAFETY MESSAGE
SECRETARY MOLESWORTH:  Sonebody nuted ne. |
t hought | was unnmuted. Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Safety topic today is sonething that maybe we're
running into, actually, today. At |least over here in
Eastern Washington, it's nice and sunny, and the
tenperatures are going to get up into the 80s this
weekend. We're not quite ready for that, but that's
what it |ooks like. And so the topic today is about
protecting your skin, protecting your eyes. Wat a | ot
of people don't realize is that, you know, applying
sunscreen is something we need to do even if we're
outside for a short period of tine. And reapplying it
Is very inportant throughout the day. It does wear
of f.

The part of the safety nessage that | really want
to make sure is clear is that your eyes are also
subject to sunburn. And so, if you're going to be
outside for any period of time, polarized sungl asses --
not just the sunglasses you buy off of the counter at
the gas station, but a polarized pair of sunglasses --

are what you should be using to prevent that eye
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damage. Recently | was asked that at the optonetrist,
and luckily I did have pol ari zed sungl asses. And they
were seeing nore and nore cases of people with vision
damage due to the sun -- due to the sun. So please go
out today. If you don't have them al ready, get
yourself a nice pair of polarized sunglasses and enj oy
t he sumer .

And, M. Chairman, that's ny safety topic for
t oday.

ROLLCALL
CHAI RMAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very nuch.
"' mgoing to ask nenbers to pl ease unnute your
mcs. W want to do a rollcall to verify a quorum
t oday.
So right at the top of the list, Wayne Mol esworth.
| assune you're here.
SECRETARY MOLESVWORTH:  |' m here.
CHAI RMAN JENKI NS: Board Menber Kerry Cox.
BOARD MEMBER COX: Here.
CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very nuch.
Board Menber Erick Lee.
BOARD MEMBER LEE: Present.
CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Board Menber Jack

Knot t i ngham
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BOARD MEMBER KNOTTI NGHAM  Present.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  Board Menmber M ke Nord.

BOARD MEMBER NORD: Present.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Board Menber |van |saacson.
(No response.)

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Board Menber Don Baker.
(No response.)

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Board Menber Kevin Davis.

BOARD MEMBER DAVI S: Here.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Board Menber -- I'msorry.

Say agai n.
BOARD MEMBER DAVIS: |'mhere. Kevin Davis.
CHAI RMAN JENKI NS: Perfect. Thank you.
Board Menber Bobby G ay.

(Mul tiple unknown speakers.)

CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: Board Menber G egory

Johnson.
BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  Present.
CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Board Menber Janes
Tunel son.
BOARD MEMBER TUMELSON:  Present.
CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: Board Menber Stephen
Ent r eki n.
BOARD MEMBER ENTREKI N Present.
CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  And Board Menber Byron
Page 6
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Al | en.

(No response.)

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: For the record -- for the

record we do have a quorum

is the chair wll

transcripts of the |ast neeting,

Mot i on.

APPROVE TRANSCRI PT FROM JANUARY 29, 2026

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: So npove on to the next item

BOARD MEMBER NORD: Board Menber Nord.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: W have a noti on.

Do we have a second?

second.

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON: Board Menmber Johnson,

CHAI RMAN JENKINS: W have a notion. W have

a second. Any discussion?

(No response.)

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Hearing none. Al in favor

say "aye."

Il

(Chorus of ayes.)
CHAI RMAN JENKINS:  Any opposed?

(No response.)
CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS: Motion passes.

entertain a notion to approve the
January 29, 2026.
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| NTRODUCTI ON OF NEW ASSI STANT DI RECTOR

CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: So I'mgoing to do a slight
amendnent to our order here. W actually have a new
assistant director, and 1'd |like to have themintroduce
t hensel ves. So hang on one second.

ASS| STANT DI RECTOR WLLIAVS: Hi, everyone.
|'mJennifer Wllians. |'mthe new assistant director
of CSCPS, which is custoner service, conpliance, and
public safety. And the public safety progranms is where
our electrical programand M. Ml eswrth presides, as
well as |'ve got Brian over here who splits that work.
So | just want to introduce nyself. | cone to you from
several other different agencies in the State. And
previous to that, | was doing construction and disaster
recovery in south Texas post Hurricane Harvey, and so
that's where ny intersection with a |ot of these
safety-related activities comes from

So | really appreciate all the tine that you take
out of your day to participate in this inportant work.
W really appreciate the partnership and | ook forward
to continuing to engage with this work along wth our
future electrical chief. Thank you to Wayne for your
| eadership and partnership with this group going on.
But as nost of you know, this is Wayne's | ast neeting.

So and of course Brian and | will be engaging with the
Page 8
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group going forward. So look forward to the
partnership. And again, thank you for the opportunity
to introduce nyself, and really appreciate the tine you
t ake.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very nuch.
Appreciate it.

APPEALS
EPI C LI GHTS & CHARLES ELLEDCGE

CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: Al right. So back to our
normal neeting here, it |looks |ike we are at our
appeals. So Appeal Nunber 1 here is the Epic Lights,
LLC. It's -- the matter before us today is an appeal
of the matter of Epic Lights LLC, Docket Nunbers
01-2025- LI - 02356, 05-2025-LI-02420. This hearing is
being held in pursuant and due proper notice to all
interested parties and proceeding via Zoomon April 30,
2026, at approximately 9:12 a.m This is an appeal
fromthe initial order issued by the Ofice of
Adm ni strative Hearings on August 15, 2025. It is ny
under standi ng that the decision affirnmed Ctations
Not i ces EBERU02765, ECM (00700, ECM &00701, and
ECM 00702 issued by the Departnment of Labor and
| ndustries on Novenber 7, 2024. It is further ny

understanding that the firmhas tinely appeal ed the
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decision to the Electrical Board.

|s there a representative from-- representative
from Epic Lights present this norning?

MR ELLEDGE: M nane is Charles Elledge,
Ch-a-r-l-e-s, last nane Elledge is E-l-1-e-d-g-e.

CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very mnuch.

|s there a representative for the Departnent today?

MR D EMER Yes. Good norning. Neil Diener,
Assistant Attorney Ceneral, for the Departnent. And
that's Neil, N-e-i-lI, Diener, Di-e-me-r.

CHAI RMAN JENKINS:  Thank you very nuch.

The Electrical Board is a | egal body authorized by
the Legislature, not only to advise the Departnent
regarding the electrical program but to hear appeals
when the Departnent issues citations or takes other
adverse actions regarding the electrical |icensing,
certification, and conpliance.

The Electrical Board is a conpletely separate
departnment. \Wen the Departnent issues penalties, a
hearing is assigned to the Ofice of Admnistrative
Hearings to conduct a hearing pursuant to the
Adm ni strative Procedures Act. An ALJ who conducts
that hearing then issues a proposed decision and order.
|f either party appeals, that decision is subject to

review by the Electrical Board. Please keep in m nd,
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while our reviewis de novo, in other words it's the
sane position as the admnistrative | aw judge who w |
review the record whether -- regardl ess of whether a
certain piece of evidence is referenced by the ALJ. W
are bound by the evidence in the record, and no new

evi dence can be presented at this neeting.

Each party will be given approxinmately 15 m nutes
to argue their nerits of their case. Any board nenber
may ask questions at the tinme and a -- tine may be
extended at the discretion of the Board.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the Board wll
determne if the findings and concl usi ons reached by
the ALJ are supported by the facts and rul es pertaining
to electrical installations.

Are there any questions before we begin?

(No response.)

CHAI RMAN JENKI NS: Hearing none, Epic Lights,
you're the appealing party. You have the burden of
proof to establish the proposed decision is incorrect,
therefore you'll go first, and you now have the floor.

MR ELLEDGE: Good norning, M. Chairman, and
menbers of the Board. M nane is Charles Elledge, |ike
| mentioned, and |I'mthe owner of Epic Lights LLC. [|I'm
here representing the conpany pro se today in appeal of

four citations, as nmentioned.
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This case comes down to a single question: Does
connecting factory-nmade, pre-term nated |ighting
conponents, the sane way you woul d connect a string of
Christmas lights, constitute electrical work requiring
a licensed contractor? W say no. And nore
i mportantly, the Departnent's own published gui dance
says no.

The Departnment's "Electrical Currents Newsletter”
explicitly states that installing unaltered,
of f-the-shel f, factory-assenbl ed, seasonal and
year-round use |lighting does not require an electrical
contractor's |icense.

El ectrical -- Epic Lights asks the Board to do one
thing: reverse the admnistrative |aw judge's decision
and dismss the citations. W're not asking the Board
to make new policy. W're asking the Board to apply
the Departnent's own published exenption to a system
that was specifically designed to qualify for the
exenption.

Let nme wal k you through why the adm nistrative | aw
judge got this wong. First, understand the conponents
of the systemare four. One is a UL-listed Cass 2
power supply that plugs into the standard outlet, no
hardwi ri ng.

Nurmber two, the second conponent, it's a
Page 12
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preassenbl ed LED |ight that cones fromthe factory with
nol ded connectors that are already attached.

Three, factory-made junper cables wth what we call
poka- yoke connectors, these are fool proof connectors
that can only connect one way. You can't install them
i ncorrectly.

Fourth conponent is an al um num nounting channel
that orients the lights, protects the lighting
assenbly, and provides a cl ean appearance.

Here's the critical point. Qur installers do not
cut any electrical conductors. They do not splice
wres. They do not crinp termnals. They do not nake
any el ectrical connections in the field. They connect
conponents with factory-term nated (noise
interference) -- that's it -- or connects a string of
Christmas lights or plugs in a lanp. Every electrical
connection in our systemis nade at the factory, not in
the field.

Let ne quote again fromthe newsletter. This is
why it's inportant. "Firnms or individuals installing
unal tered, off-the-shelf, factory-assenbl ed, seasonal -
and year-round-use lighting products are not required
to be licensed electrical contractors."

Qur systemis unaltered. It comes off the shelf.

Anyone can buy these conponents. Qur systemis factory
Page 13
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assenbl ed. Every electrical connector is installed at
a factory. W design our systens specifically to neet
t he Departnent's published exenption.

So tell me why the ALJ got this wong. The
adm nistrative law judge found it nore |ikely than not
that our installer spliced wires. That finding rests
on photographs showing wire cutters at the jobsite.
Let ne be very clear about what the burden of proof
here is. The burden rests on the Department. The only
thing that we have is photographs of tools, not how
t hose tools were used. The photographs do not show any
cut electrical conductor. They do not show any
field-nmade splices. They do not show any cri nped
connections. They do not show any altered or nodified
factory connectors. They do not show anyone in the act
of cutting or splicing wwires. The only thing that was
observed is tools that were left behind. And that's
all. Wre cutters serve many legitimte nonel ectrica
purposes on an installation: trimmng and shaping the
al um num nounti ng channel, trinmng zip ties for cable
managenent, openi ng packaging, cutting protective
coveri ngs.

The adm nistrative law judge's finding is an

I nference drawn in the presence of tools, not evidence

of any work perforned by an electrical -- excuse ne --
Page 14
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any work done on an electrical conductor. An inference
Is not proof. The Departnent had the burden. The
Departnent did not neet it.

The adm nistrative |aw judge al so found that the
channel nust be trinmed and nmani pul at ed before
installation. This is true. Channels are cut to fit
roof lines. But cutting an alum num nounting channel
Is not electrical work. The relevant test is not
whet her anything is cut. The test is whether any
el ectrical conductor splice or termnation is created
or altered in the field, and none is. Wen the channel
Is cut to length, the factory-term nated connectors
remain intact. No conductor is severed and
reconnected. No splice is created. No termnation is
altered. The electrical assenbly remains exactly as it
left the factory. Cutting this alum num channel is
mechani cal fitting work, the same type of work that is
done by carpenters, siding installers, gutter
installers every day. None of these require an
electrical license. The Departnent's own newsletter
does not identify trinmmng nounting hardware as a
di squalifying factor. The newsletter focuses on
whet her the electrical conponents are field fabricated.
Qurs are not field fabricated.

So et me go over sone of the other argunents that
Page 15
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were given. The Departnent clains our alum num channel
is a raceway. And this is wong for three reasons, and
the Board would have to reject all three of these to
rul e against us on this issue.

First, the NEC definition defines a raceway as a
channel designed expressly for holding wires. CQur
channel is not designed expressly for holding wres.

It is designed to nount and protect a conplete
factory-assenbled |ighting assenbly. The wiring inside
this is part of the product, not |oose conductor being
routed through a conduit system

Second, the NEC specifically nentions table trays
and confirnms that those are distinct froma raceway.
Cable trays are netal channels that hold el ectrical
cabl es, yet the NEC does not classify cable trays as
raceways. They are a nechani cal support system under
Article 392. If a cable tray that carries power
conductors is not a raceway, then a nounting channel
that carries inherently safe Cass 2 |lighting
conponents is certainly not a raceway.

Thirdly, the Article 725 provides that Cass 2
power-limted circuits are not required to use class --
excuse nme -- Chapter 3 wiring nethods. Article 725
specifically provides alternative requirenents for

these circuits because they're inherently safe. The
Page 16
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specific provisions of Article 725 govern over the
general definition in Article 100.

So to rule against us on the raceway issues, the
Board woul d have to reject the textual argunent, the
cable tray anal ogy, and the Article 725 alternative
requi rements rule. The Departnent has not provided a
sufficient basis to do any of these things.

Let ne respond to the Departnent's argunents that
| ow vol tages are relevant. They m scharacterize our
position on this. W're not claimng a general |ow
vol tage exenption. W are nmaking two distinct
code- based argunents. First, our systemqualifies for
t he seasonal |ighting exenption in the Departnent's
newsl| etter because we use unaltered, off-the-shelf,
factory-assenbl ed conponents.

Second, our systemuses Class 2 power-limted
circuits, which are subject to the alternative
requi renents of the NEC Article 725. These are
specific recogni zed positions -- provisions -- excuse
me -- in the NEC and the Department's own publi shed
gui dance. This is not a nade-up | oophol e.

Secondl y, the second argunent is that plug-and-play
doesn't apply. The Departnent will say our field is

field fabricated because conponents are pl ugged

together on site. |If that interpretation were correct,
Page 17
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the exenption in the Departnent's own newsletter would
mean nothing. Every electrical product nmust ultimtely
be connected to power. Every string of Christmas
lights, for exanple, gets plugged together. Field
fabrication in the newsletter plainly means the kind of
work that creates electrical connections in the field,
nanely cutting wires to length, splicing conductors,
crinping termnals, or soldering joints. Qur system
I nvol ves none of that. Every electrical connection is
factory nade.

The third argunent that the Department wll put
forward is credibility based on prior citations.
First, in 2022 Epic Lights had a citation that was paid
w t hout contesting it. And this was an econom c
decision. It cost less to pay than to litigate. Under
Washi ngton | aw, paynent of a civil penalty w thout
adm ssion of liability is not an adjudication. The
| egal questioning we're presenting today is whether or
not our systemaqualifies for the newsletter's
exenption. That has never been adjudicated on the
merits. This appeal is the first opportunity for that
question to be properly deci ded.

Secondly, there's a question that | wasn't

personally on the jobsite. |'mthe owner of Epic
Lights, and | do not personally install lights. \Wat I
Page 18
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can speak to, and what is properly before the Board, is
t he design of the systemand the procedures we train
our installers to follow And here the |egal question
matters nore than any factual dispute about who was on
site. The legal question is whether the system as
designed, and as installed, and as installers are
trained to dois -- put it inis exenpt. The
Department has not produced evi dence of any el ectrical
wor k, no cut conductor, no field-nade splices, no
altered termnations. The case rests on inferences
from phot ographs of tools.

Let ne just nention that the Departnment's issued
newsl etter really tells us what to do. W read the
newsl etter. W design our systemto neet every
criterion it lists. W use unaltered conmponents. W
use of f-the-shelf conponents. W use factory-assenbl ed
conponents. |If a business that designs its system
specifically to satisfy these published exenpti ons can
still be cited, then the exenption is neaningless, and
busi nesses have no way to know what is permtted. This
I's not how a regulatory programis supposed to work.
The Departnent's gui dance should nean what it says.

So let me summarize. Epic Lights uses unaltered,
of f-the-shel f, factory-assenbl ed conponents connected

W th pre-term nated connectors. No electrica
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conductor is cut. No splices made. No termnation is
altered. No electrical work occurs in the field. This
Is exactly the type of systemthe Departnent's own
newsl etter says is exenpt. The admnistrative |aw
judge's contrary findings rest on inference,

phot ographs of tools that did not show any el ectri cal
wor k or any actual conductor or any identified person.

So in conclusion we respectfully ask the Board to
reverse the admnistrative | aw judge' s deci si on and
dismss all four citations. Thank you. |[|'m happy to
answer any questions that the Board may have.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Chair Jenkins here. W're
going to open the floor for our AAG Neil Diener. The
floor is yours.

MR D EMER Geat. Thank you.

The electrical laws in Washington State require
that field-fabricated permanent outdoor |ighting be
installed by licensed electrical contractors enpl oyi ng
certified electricians. Epic Lights here violated the
electrical laws by installing field-fabricated systens
despite not being a licensed electrical contractor and
not enploying any certified electricians. Not only
that, Epic Lights knew that it needed to be Iicensed
and certified for this kind of work because it had been

previously cited for simlar violations.
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Now, OAH correctly reviewed the evidence and
affirmed the citations and penalties against Epic
Lights. And this Board should do the sane.

| trust that the Board has reviewed the record and
the parties' submssions, so I'll try to keep ny
remarks brief. The key issue here is whether Epic
Lights was installing field-fabricated pernmanent
lighting, and the credible evidence shows that it was.
You've heard M. Elledge spend a great deal of tine
arguing that the systenms are not field-fabricated, and
instead are unaltered, off-the-shelf,
factory-assenbled. This is just not supported by the
evi dence here.

The term"field-fabricated" clearly refers to
anything that is installed and creates an end product
that is customor unique to that specific application.
Here, Epic Lights is necessarily field-fabricating its
systens because they're customcut and trimmed to fit
each specific jobsite and would not work on any ot her
| ocation other than that specific hone. So this
applies to both the nmetal channels that support the
LEDs and conductors, along wth the LED nodul e strings.
Agai n, these systens necessarily nust be field nodified
unl ess Epic Lights is sonehow installing themonly on

architecturally identical honmes. The evidence, again,
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confirms -- well, the credible evidence confirnms the
field fabrication as the Departnent inspector found
wre cable, wire splicing materials and tools. These
are docunented in photographs that are in the OAH
record. |If these materials and tools were not being
used, commopn sense suggests they woul d not be present

at the jobsite. Mreover, if Epic Lights' systens were
truly off-the-shelf, as defined in UL588, they would be
essentially like a roll of tenporary holiday Iights
that nost folks are famliar with that are affixed to a
home and directly plugged into an outlet.
"Off-the-shelf," in this neaning, is not sonething
that's field nodified in any way.

Now just nmoving on to the other key issue here,
which is just credibility of the evidence that OAH
considered. So on the one hand you have the
Departnment's inspector, who testified, who actually has
firsthand know edge, was at the jobsite, took
phot ographs, investigated. And then on the other hand,
you have Epic Lights' sole witness, M. Elledge. He
adm tted he was never at these jobsites. He couldn't
even identify the enpl oyees who worked on those
jobsites. So needless to say, those individuals never
testified. |In fact, those enpl oyees, upon seeing the

Departnent's inspector, decided to refuse to speak with
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them and | eave the site altogether. So again, the
evidence that is before the Board has no firsthand
testinony or proof fromthe people who are actually
doing the work. So even if Epic Lights allegedly
trains the enployees to do it a certain way, there's
just no evidence before the Board that they actually
did so in this case. Ruling in the favor of Epic

Li ghts under these circunmstances would set a pretty bad
precedent in Washington State where contractors can be
encouraged to have enpl oyees just |eave jobsites,
refuse to speak with inspectors, and then the owners or
managers can cone in |later on and second guess the

I nspector's findings, as M. Elledge is doing here.

The inspector who was there, who had no one to speak
with, did the best he could, just trying to enforce the
electrical laws. And again, he's the only credible

W t ness today who testified and actually saw what was
happening at that jobsite, and his concl usion was that
field fabrication was bei ng done.

The other two major argunents, the Departnent takes
the position these are essentially irrelevant, the
raceway voltage. |'m happy to answer any questions.

But really the key is that the systemwas field
fabricated. The credible evidence proved it. And for

that reason, the violations and penalties should be
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affirmed. Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very much. Chair
Jenki ns here.

Any questions fromthe Electrical Board? Any
coment s?
Board Menber Gregory Johnson.

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  Yeah. On Exhibit 14,
page 188 of the Electrical Board packet -- so that's
entitled page 15 of 20 -- | amseeing a bunch of cut
wire laying on the ground, and | even see the ends
stripped back. And | see no preconnectorized
connectors on that cut wire. And then on page 188 --
let's see -- 177, | see -- where there's a bunch of
tools, | see a box of bulk cable that is definitely not
pretermnated cable, and it's partially spool ed out.
Appears like it's being used. And then | also see on
page 193, | see wire that appears to be stripped back,
and it's hanging fromthe lighting soffit. And |I'm
wondering, how can you claimthat there is no --
everything is preconnectorized, there's no cut wire,

when the photographs in the evidence record depict else

W se?
MR ELLEDGE: |Is that a question for ne?
BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  Yes.
MR ELLEDGE: So just to understand how we
Page 24
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operate, Epic Lights use -- we don't use enpl oyees to
install our materials. W use contractors. W -- we
acquire their services, they cone and they install.
Those contractors have various backgrounds. They do
various jobs across the state for various clients,
including us. And so we ask themto install our
product. Qur product -- we can give you invoices of
the factory where we get them W can show you
precisely what they are. Wat the contractors bring to
the project, | amnot necessarily always aware of, and
where they conme from and where they are going to
followng the work that they do for us. | can only
speak to the fact that every product that we get, we
can give you invoices where we get themfrom W get
them made in China. W can show you the connectors.
We can show you all these things. | can't vouch for
what the contractors -- our independent contractors
bring to the jobsite and what they have and why they
have it. So | can't necessarily speak to all that. |
do know, in addition, that there were other work going
on at this site by nultiple people. This is, | think,
a renodel for a house that was being done. So there

were other electrical projects. There were | andscaping

projects. There were all sorts of things going on. It
wasn't just us at the jobsite. | do know that.
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BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON: | do have anot her
question. | won't belabor that point because | think
it's very clear by that answer. But | did want to go
to some of your exhibits you had on page 236 of the
Board packet. Actually, it's -- if you scroll down a
little farther, it's on page 240 where you gave your --
showed a picture of the system and you've shown the
preconnectorized things. | want to note that all of
t hose connectors depicted are very short, they would
only reach from-- and that's also on Exhibit 14, where
It shows the netal channel where |Iights are nounted,
those are very short, and they only reach fromthe
nei ghboring lights. And what | don't see -- in any of
t he evidence of any photos, | don't see any | onger
cables that would be required to connect the power
supply to the -- and al so connecting the points across
fromdifferent parts of the house. So | don't see any
evi dence of any |onger preconnectorized cable. And |
know in the transcript of the proceeding, on page 57
the inspector, Mchael Call, had testified that there
I's sonme plug-in conponents in that system but there
are splice connections, electrical connections nade.
There are wre cable, two conductor cables that's
running a raceway that extend to the other portions.

And | think that is -- that quote is summed up pretty
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well. And I just wanted to highlight that WAC

296- 46B- 925(10) specifies that if a systemrequires --
requires any field electrical assenbly, then it would
not conply wth that exception. So if -- you m ght
have 90 percent of the systemthat you' ve
preconnectorized, but if you have 10 percent that
requires field termnations and field running of
cables, then that doesn't conply. And then also, on
sone of those connectors, part of WAC 296, every single
preconnectori zed conponent has to be listed. And so |
do see in your photos that you showed listing for the
power supply unit. But | see no proof that all the

ot her connectors and pieces are listed, so | see no

evi dence what soever there. So what I'mled to believe
I's, maybe 90 percent of your systemis connectorized,
but 10 percent is field termnated and field install ed.

MR ELLEDGE: Can | respond to that?

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  Yeah.

MR ELLEDGE: So we need to go to the site
where we buy our stuff. And |I'm happy to -- obviously,
we can't present that evidence here. But we buy our
stuff froma site. W go to the site, we order it, and
we can't -- there are nultiple Iengths of these
extensions, we call them They come anywhere from 2

feet long to 75 feet long, and they cone in various
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| engths. W use them for various purposes. The idea
IS, when we use those extensions, as we call them or
junper cables, is actually nuch slower to install the
l'ights using precut -- excuse ne -- |line that you have
to take out, you have to strip it, you have to neasure
it. W use the preformed extensions because they're so
much faster, and they're fool proof. That's the reason
that we use them

Now, we can't -- so in total there's probably
about -- | don't know -- ten different I|engths,
sonmething like that. So we didn't present those all at
t he hearing because they're all of the sane form and
factor. And so that's why we don't show themall. But
they are available, and they're -- it would be contrary
to our business policy to use those because the people
that are installing, it would take them|onger to do
it, and they're making | ess per hour. As you well
know, this is done on a foot basis. So the |onger it
takes to do it, the I ess noney they nake. They're not
Incentivized to use wire that they take off of a spool
and have to strip it to put connectors on it. That
Is -- takes a long tine and is prone to m stakes. So
the fact that we don't have themall there to showis
not indicative of the fact that they don't exist. They

do exist. Everything in the systemthat we put
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t oget her uses the sane types of connectors, and they
are there available to use on any house that's needed
to use them or any buil ding.
CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS:  Ckay.
Chai r Jenki ns.
Kerry Cox had a question.
BOARD MEMBER COX: Yes. | have a question for
the Departnent's AAG
If M. Elledge is saying that his firmdoesn't
install the lighting -- they hire contractors -- Epic
Lights, as | understand fromthe record, is a genera
contractor, so they have the opportunity to hire
contractors to do the electrical installation. So ny
question for the Departnent is: Wy is Epic Lights the
one receiving the citation rather than the installing
contractor?
MR DI EVMER: Thank you, Board Menber Cox.
|'mnot entirely sure that question is wthin the
scope of what we have on appeal today. The Depart nent
I nspector found evidence -- | believe it's in the
phot ographs in the record -- that show Epic Light's
name on sone of the materials that were |left behind by
the contractors who left the scene. The inspector
| ater spoke with M. Elledge, who, | believe, conceded

responsibility that they were in charge of installing.
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So | believe the Departnent was well within its rights
to issue these citations to Epic Lights.

BOARD MEMBER COX: Ckay. Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS: Chair Jenkins. Are there
any ot her questions fromEl ectrical Board nenbers?
Comment s?

(No response.)

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS: Hearing none, first of all,
this is exactly why we require -- why we require an
el ectrical contractor because if we're | ooking at
I ndependent contractors doing electrical work, you have
no i dea what's happening out there. You being a
general, if you're hiring electrical contractors to do
this work, | would expect you to be vetting out
el ectrical contractors to do this work, not just
anybody that wants to install the system

The second problem | have with the whole thing is,
this in effect a conduit system This is a full-blown
el ectrical systemyou're installing. The lighting
channel, that channel there is to protect the wring.
It's not just there for support. Well, it's there for
support also. But this is a whole wiring systemyou're
installing. And we've seen this before on other
appeals. It's identical to the ones we've seen before.

And you being cited for the sane situation before and
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continuing doing this business, to ne, is flagrant, you
know, let's keep pushing the sane button and try to get
this thing done. This needs to be done by electrical
contractors. The obvious course for this is, we have
W ring has to happen between electrical Cdass 2 wring
systemto the actual lights thenselves. |It's going
through the building itself. So you're poking through
to the inside exterior going through a building
structure. Don't know that for sure. But all the
stuff indicates that's what this is all about. That's
ny two cents on this.

Are there any other comments fromthe Electrical
Boar d?

BOARD MEMBER NORD: Yes. Having reviewed UL

Standard 588, which is a lengthy standard to review, |
don't believe that this conpany's installation is
within the scope of that standard. You're building a
permanent light fixture. |It's got a raceway conduit
system whatever you want to call it. But it's a
metallic structure that's permanently there on the
building that Iights on the building that you built a
light fixture. Is this netallic structure grounded or
bonded in any way? | never saw any -- any testinony
either way. And | share the same concerns that Chair

Jenki ns does.
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And once again, during ny life on this board,
you're not the first contractor to cone forward with
this theory. And | do not believe that your
installation is within the | egal scope, and you do
require to have electricians install this type of
structure. So it's a light fixture. |It's a pernmanent
customlight fixture that is attached to that building,
and you have to ensure that it's properly installed to
that building that in the future it's not going to
deteriorate and fall off the building, you haven't
conprom sed any firewalls or any wwre to it. And where
you place your transformer in relationship to an 110
outlet, is that done properly? Sonebody has to build a
light fixture, and you install it permanently, sonebody
has to look at it to ensure that it's safe and it neets
all the requirenents for the honmeowner to be assured
that he has a safe installation when it's done.

CHAI RMAN JENKI NS:  Thank you.

So Board Menber Kerry Cox.

BOARD MEMBER COX: Board Menber Cox.

Question for Chief Inspector Mleswrth. The
newsl etter article that the appellant is referring to,
can you describe to ne what its intent was for?

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Hol d on one second.

MR. BLOHOW AK: Board Menmber Cox, this is
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Benj am n Bl ohow ak, the AAG for the El ectrical Board.
The Departnment's intent, unless it was part of the
testinony elicited at OAH, woul d be new evi dence t hat
you're eliciting this norning. So | would ask that
maybe you refrane your question or point to a portion
of part of the record that M. Mol esworth coul d speak
to. But other than that, |I'mnot aware that that was
di scussed at the adm nistrative |aw judge | evel.

BOARD MEMBER COX: Understood. Thank you for
that, Counsel. | wll retract ny question fromthe
record. Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: So Chair Jenkins here
agai n.

Board Menber Gregory Johnson.

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  Yeah, | wanted to
hi ghl i ght one other thing in part of the transcript
here in the proceedings. Wen |Inspector M chael Cal
was testifying on page 56 and 57, he referenced the
Genstone Lighting website for the manufacturer. He
referenced their frequently asked questions, and on
there, per his testinony, "Do | need to be an
electrician to install this product?" And the response
Is "We require dealers installing the track |ighting

systemto be either an electrician or have an

electrician on staff." So that testinony, according to
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the inspector, is quoting the manufacturer's FAQ seens
to be telling that this is definitely an electrician
function to install.
CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very nuch.
Are there any other Board nenbers that would Iike
to nmake a conment or a question?
(No response.)
CHAI RMAN JENKI NS: Hearing and seei ng none,
the chair would entertain a notion.
BOARD MEMBER NORD: | nmke a notion that the
Board upholds all citations as laid forth by the
adm ni strative | aw judge.
CHAI RVAN JENKINS: W have a noti on.
Do you have a second?
BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON: |1'l1 second that.
CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  We have a notion, and we
have a second. Do we have any di scussion?
(No response.)
CHAI RMAN JENKI NS: Hearing and seei ng none,
all in favor indicate by saying "aye."
(Chorus of ayes.)
CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  And any opposed?
(No response.)
CHAI RMAN JENKINS: All right. Mbtion passes.

Al'l right. So thank you. The Board has nade a
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decision. AAG Ni el Diener, would you please get in
contact with Charles Ell edge and see if you can reach
an agreenent that best reflects the decision of the
Board. Please be advised if you do not reach an
agreenment today, this matter will be automatically set
for presentnment at the next regular schedul ed Board
meeting. |f an agreed order has not been received in
that tine, the parties will be expected to file their
proposed orders and appear and advi se why their
proposed orders best reflects the Board's. Hopefully
this will not be necessary. |If you're able to reach an
agreenment (indiscernible) of the order before the next
nmeeting, please forward it to the secretary of the
Board, and they will ensure it gets signed and copies
provided to both parties.
Are there any questions fromany party?

MR DI EVMER: Not fromthe Departnment. That is
understood. Thank you.

CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very mnuch.

And appellant? Hearing none, |I'Il thank you very
much for your time. | appreciate it.
/1
/1
/1
/1
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REVI EW OF OQUTSTANDI NG PROPOSED ORDERS
KVA ELECTRI C ORDER AFFI RM NG I N PART AND REVERSI NG I N
PART THE I NI TI AL ORDER

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Al right. So nmoving on to
our next item which is KVA Electric with Kevin Duncan.
The matter before us today is presentnent of proposed
orders in the matter of KVA Electric and Kevin Duncan,
Docket Numbers LL-2024-LI1-02302. Each party wll be
given five mnutes today to argue why their proposed
order best reflects the decision of the Board. Any
Board nenbers may ask questions at any tinme. And tine
may be extended at the discretion of the Board. At the
concl usi on of the arguments, the Board will vote and
determ ne which will be entered.

Do you have the Departnent here today?

M5. VU. Good norning, Chairman Jenkins. Yes.
My name is Leah Vu, Assistant Attorney Ceneral, and |I'm
appearing on behalf of the Departnment. M nane is
spelled L-e-a-h V-u.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very nuch.

Do we have soneone here from KVA Electric or a

representative of ?

MR STEEN. Yes. Good norning, Chairman. M

name is Tinothy Steen -- last nane is spelled
S-t-e-e-n -- and |I'mhere on behal f of the KVA and
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M. Duncan.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Okay. So the departnent is
t he appealing party. You have the fl oor.

M5. VU Thank you. At the quarterly neeting
on Cctober 30, 2025, this electrical board agreed with
the OAH that Skagit PUD is an electrical utility, but
found that the judge erred in granting sumary judgnent
in favor of KVA Electric. And this is because the
Board found there are genuine issues of material fact
wWth regard to whether the exenption identified NEC
90.2(B)(5) 1981 Edition applies to Skagit PUD. This
El ectrical Board remanded this case to the OAH for an
evidentiary hearing due to having found a factual
di sput e.

The Departnent's proposed order reflects the
El ectrical Board's sinplified notions. The first
notion being to send this case back for an evidentiary
hearing because there is a genuine issue of material --
di spute of material fact as to whether the exenption
identified in the NEC applies to Skagit PUD. | would
like to share nmy screen to show the part of the
transcript fromthe October 30 neeting that reflects
this.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: One second.

M5. VU Board nenbers, do you see the
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transcript on my screen?

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: W can see.

M5. VU On page 94 Board Menber Johnson
states: "So the first question is exactly" -- "notion
Is exactly what Ben just stated.” This being the first
notion. And what Board Menber Johnson is referring to
Is Attorney Bl ohow ak's statenent advising that the
notion be to reverse the ALJ's decision because there
IS a genuine issue of material fact as to whether or
not the exenption as identified in the NEC applies to
Skagit PUD in this case.

And that is what is contained in the Departnent's
proposed order. |If you go to Article 1.5, the
Departnment's proposed order states: "The Board finds
there are genuine disputes of material fact with regard
to whether the exenption identified in NEC 9. 2(B)(5)
1981 Edition applies to Skagit PUDin this matter."

Further down in the conclusions of laws in Article
2.2, the Departnent's order states: "The Ofice of
Adm ni strative Hearing erred in granting sunmary
judgnment in favor of KVA Electrical because there are
genui ne di sputes of material fact."

And then noving on to the second notion of this
El ectrical Board -- that this Electrical Board nade a

nmotion to affirmthe judge's decision as to the finding
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that Skagit PUDis an electrical utility as a matter of
| aw.

|'d like to junp to page 103 to where Board Menber
Johnson stated: "Ckay. | change ny notion to exactly
what Ben advi sed."

And above we see Attorney Bl ohow ak's statenents.
“Board Menber Johnson, | would advise that you again
sinplify your notion and that you're to" -- "your
motion is to affirmthe judge's decision as far as
finding that Skagit PUD is an electrical utility as a
matter of |aw "

The wording of this notion reflects what's in the
Department's proposed order. |If you refer to Article
1.4 of the Departnent's proposed order, it states:
"The Board finds there is no genuine dispute of
material fact wth regard to whether Skagit PUD is an
electrical utility for purpose of determ ning whether
Skagit PUD is exenpt fromregulation under the
electrical -- electrical code contained in RCW 19. 28."
This is also reflected under the conclusions of law in
the Departnent's proposed order. "Article 2.2, Skagit
PUD is an electrical utility as a matter of |aw under
the state electrical code contained in RCW19. 28."

Finally, the Departnent's proposed order states:

"The August 6, 2025, proposed order on sunmary judgnent
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I ssued by the Ofice of Admnistrative Hearings is
reversed and remanded to the QAH for an evidentiary
hearing to determ ne whether the exenption, as
identified in NEC 90.2(B)(5) 1981 Edition applies to
Skagit PUDin this matter."

This Board expressly decided to exclude the extra
| anguage that is included in KVA Electric's proposed
order, and therefore the Departnent asks that this
El ectrical Board accepts the Departnent's proposed
order. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN JENKINS:  Thank you very nuch. Chair
Jenki ns here.

So, M. Tinothy Steen.

MR. STEEN. Yes. Good norning. This is
Tinothy Steen, for the court reporter's benefit.

Your Honor, an attorney's role in preparing these
sorts of orders is to be of assistance to the Board to
accurately capture their ruling and put in a format
that conplies with the law. And that's what KVA and
M. Duncan have attenpted to do here.

| mportantly, this was the Board's review of a
summary judgnment order by the adm nistrative | aw judge.
It wasn't an evidentiary hearing. And that's an
I mportant distinguishnent because the Board is to

review the order on summary judgnent to determ ne
Page 40

,:A‘ Capitol Pacific Reporting, Inc. scheduling@capitolpacificreporting.com

800.407.0148


https://www.capitolpacificreporting.com

© 0O N oo o A W DN B

N N N N NN P P P P P P P PP
aa A WO N P O ©O 0 N OO 0o A WO N —» O

ELECTRICAL BOARD MEETING
Transcript of Proceedings - April 30, 2026

whet her there is a question of material fact. That's a
| egal determination as to whether there's a material
fact. And the Board, in doing that, is asked to
identify those facts that is in dispute and then
determ ne whether they are material, i.e., they have an
outcome on this case depending on how they're deci ded.
And so with that format in mnd, it's inportant to
first note the Departnent has proposed what they call a
final order under. Under the APA that's an order
that's inmedi ately appeal able after the order is
entered because the case is done, it's conplete based
upon that order. The Board hasn't done that here.
They have renmanded it back to the ALJ for further
determ nation. Currently this is not a final order,
and the Board should not enter a final order, if for no
other reason that it's procedurally erroneous to do so.
Your Honor, the order proposed by KVA and
M. Duncan al so captures an inportant ruling that the
Department omtted. The Departnent -- excuse ne. The
Board decided that the Departnent's new sunmary
j udgnent notion wasn't properly before it. [It's not
captured in the Departnment's order. It should be
reflected that it was part of the Board' s determ nation.
Secondly, the Board is required under the APA to

make findings of fact; what are the facts in the record
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that are in dispute between the parties? And
unfortunately, the Departnent's order omits that. It
doesn't identify what those facts are. |Instead, it
points to conclusion of |aw, which the Board is also
required to nake, but it doesn't identify what those
facts are.

And so inportantly, in understanding what the Board
was concerned about saying, you know, the judge didn't
consi der, or the judge found these facts to be in
di spute, the record indicates that two things were
consi dered: the location, and the nature of the system
And that can be found in the transcript that's been
provided to the Board in M. Duncan's notice of
presentation. W provided that transcript wth
highlights so it's easy to find. But wthout those
findings, there are no findings of fact entered in the
record. And so it's necessary to point themout so
that there is a legally conpliant order before the
Board. The Board didn't decide that it was
specifically excluding that |anguage. No such order
was in the transcript or the hearing. But it is
necessary for the Board to have those findings in order
to support its conclusions of |aw.

And t hose conclusions of |aw are two things.

They're found in Paragraph 11, page 4 of M. Duncan's
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order, and it's sinply this, and it's a verbatimquote
fromthe transcript. "The genuine issue of materi al
fact exists as to whether or not the exenption

i dentified at NEC 90.2(B)(5) 1981 applied to Skagit
PUD. The Board nade that determ nation, that | egal
conclusion of law, not a finding of fact, based upon
what -- | believe it was -- Board Menber Johnson's

i dentification of what he thought was the Board's
error, the failure to consider the nature of the
system and the location of the system where that work
Is allegedly perforned.

Second, the other conclusion that the Board drew
was that Skagit PUDis an electric utility as a matter
of law. That verbatimlanguage is captured in
Par agraph 12 of M. Duncan and KVA's proposed order.
Departnent attenpts to narrow that, inappropriately,
and add | anguage to the Board's finding or conclusion
there by saying it was only under the electrical code
in 1928. The Board made no such limtation, and it
woul d be inappropriate to do so because the
determ nation electrical utility has application not
only in 1928 but also under the NEC that's at issue.
And the Board determned, as a matter of |aw that
Skagit PUDis an electric utility. And so it would be

| nappropriate to narrow that now unless the Board was
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going to reopen the hearing and eval uate the issues
further with argunment from counsel.

And further, Chairman Jenkins, it's inportant to
note that this was a review of the order, sunmary
judgnment order, and the Board did two things. R ght?
It affirmed that order, in part, that Skagit PUD is an
electrical utility as a matter of law. And then it
poi nted out and reversed, in part, that order as to the
extent whether NEC 90.2(B)(5) apply to Skagit PUD.
That's what's captured in Paragraphs 13 and 14.

Now, the APA also requires that instructions be
given to the presiding officer as part of this order on
remand. And | believe Board Menber Johnson was aware
of that when he wanted it to be referred back for an
evidentiary hearing and nentioned giving direction.

And so it's appropriately done and included in

Par agraph 15 of KVA and M. Duncan's proposed order.
And what would the -- at a mninmumthe ALJ woul d be
appropriately determning? Wll, the two issues that
were identified as questions of fact, that were pointed
out as error by M. Johnson, that weren't apparently
consi dered satisfactorily, were the |ocation where the
wor k was perfornmed and nature of the system

So all those things required for a conpliant --

legally conpliant order fromthe Board. They track
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specifically, and verbatimnost instances, with the
transcript fromthe Board' s hearing.

Wth that | will rest unless there should be any
further questions.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS: Thank you very much. [|'m
Chair Jenkins here.

Any questions fromthe Electrical Board?
Board Menber Gregory Johnson

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  Yeah, | was -- AAG
Ms. Vue, | was wondering if there's anything in --
specifically, can you point out issues you take
specifically with KVA Electric's nmotion? Like, is
there any itens that you -- whether in the finding of
facts or the conclusions, if you could point out
specific issues.

M5. VU Well, KVA Electric's proposed order
contains the extra | anguage, extra | anguage which this
El ectrical Board expressly agreed to exclude in making
nore sinplified nmotions. And noreover, Paragraph -- or
| should say Article 15 of KVA Electric's proposed
order appears to suggest that the record on remand is
limted to what is already in the record. |In an
evidentiary hearing, the OAH woul d need to consider the
records on whatever evidence is yet to be provided in

addition to what's in the record. The record so far is
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for the summary judgnent hearing, which the Electrica
Board found does not resolve all the issues in this
case.
CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very nuch.
| s there any other question from Board Menber

Johnson? Does that answer your question?

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  Yeah. [|'mwondering if
there's -- is there any roomfor a conpronm se between,
like -- is there any paragraphs you'd be wlling to
swap out, even for -- between either of your attorneys?

Like, is there a mddle ground on sonething you guys
coul d agree on?

MR STEEN. This is Tinothy Steen, Board
Menmber Johnson. We've attenpted to do that,
unsuccessful | y.

However, to address Ms. Vu's comments, and to be
cooperative and assist the Board, in Paragraph 15 there
was no intention to limt the record to the existing
record. Presumably, the ALJ is going to hear the ful
record that's before -- that's properly before it. So
| have no problem adding clarification there, if that
hel ps get us closer to consensus.

M5. VU This is Leah Vu. The Departnent has
no objections to renam ng the order, order affirmng in

part and reversing in part the initial order. The
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reason why the Departnent's proposed order is titled
"Final Order" is because it is this Electrical Board's
final order.

And with respect to the other paragraphs in KVA
El ectric's proposed order, the paragraphs on the record
and the briefing is unnecessary and irrel evant and
doesn't -- doesn't reflect the notions that this
El ectrical Board nade.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Chair Jenkins. | want to
verify also to our counsel here. And the question |
had was, first of all, I like the idea of having
(i ndi scerni ble) open response send it back to the judge
and have themrevi ew everything and all ow t he hearing

to add all the evidence they need fromeither side. |

don't want to have any limtations. | don't want to
steer in any one direction. | want themeffectively to
just redo it. Look at it again, and all information as

needed. So I'min favor, personally, of the

Departnment's proposal, | should say that.
|s there any legal -- question for Ben here. |Is
there any | egal issues, like, where they have -- woul d

call any problenms with the ALJ as far as keeping this
open and making sure this is a legal --
MR BLOHOW AK: (I ndiscernible.)

CHAI RMAN JENKI NS:  We have a question from
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M. G egory Johnson.

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  Yeah. The only two
parts that |'mseeing mssing fromthe Departnent's is
conclusion of law. If you |ook at KVA s Concl usion of
Law 11 and 12. So | think 12 is nore accurately a
direct quote as opposed -- | nean they're fairly close,
but as already spoken, that's on the electric utilities
matter of law. | think 12 is nore accurate. They're
very close, short statenents. And then 11, | don't
believe it's necessary to include all that info into
the order portion. But inside the conclusion of |aw, |
think it's inportant to let the ALJ know where they
faulted. And that was clearly discussed throughout the
transcript. And |I'd hate to have the ALJ have to
search through the Electrical Board neeting transcript
to really understand where they faulted. So | would
think that, at a mninmum the Departnment would need to
I ncl ude Conclusion of Law 11, and then possibly repl ace
their Conclusion of Law 2.2 with 12.

MR STEEN. If | may. To avoid any | egal
error, the order needs to reflect sone |egal analysis
as to how the questions of fact create a genuine issue
of material fact. R ght? Wthout that -- both orders
| ack that. And so it doesn't establish why the Board

Is determning there's an issue of material fact,
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absent that additional |anguage in -- in Paragraph 11
of M. Duncan's proposed order, KVA's proposed order.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Chair Jenkins here. | just
wanted to (indiscernible) counsel just -- they don't
want to have to send it back to us again and have to
look at it athird tine. | guess, it will be the
second time. And | also don't want to add information
here because this has the potential to cone back to us
again if sonething wwth the ALJ doesn't go well wth
either party. So | don't want to be -- I'Il call it --
tainted of their decisions on howit cones back to us.
Hence that's why | have an idea of keeping things open
and letting the judge just re-look at it, let the two
parties argue with the judge. And they can add any
information as they need to during the evidentiary
hearing. So once again, |I'mkind of holding off to see
t hat our counsel gets back with them

Are there any other questions or conments fromthe
Board as we're waiting?

BOARD MEMBER NORD: Board Menber Nord. |
totally concur with Board Menber Jenkins' eval uation of
this matter.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: So the chair woul d
entertain a notion to take a ten-mnute recess.

BOARD MEMBER NORD: Board Menber Nord.
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Mot i on.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: W have a notion. Do we
have a second?

BOARD MEMBER KNOTTI NGHAM  Second. Board
Menmber Knottingham  Second.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: W have a notion and a
second.

Any di scussi on?
(No response.)

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Hearing none, all in favor
say "aye."

(Chorus of ayes.)

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Any opposed?

(No response.)

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS: Moti on passes.

So we'll take a ten-ish mnute break. W should
see you back here close to 10:30. Thank you.
(Break taken.)

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Al right. Back to talking
to counsel. | believe you may have a proposed order --
notion, | nmean.

BOARD MEMBER NORD: Board Menmber Nord. | want
to make a notion that the Board take this matter under
advi senent .

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  We have a notion.
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Do we have a second?

BOARD MEMBER KNOTTI NGHAM  Board Menber
Knotti ngham |'ll second the notion.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Any di scussion? The
di scussion | want to bring up is | believe what we want
to dois we want to ook at both of the orders, and we
w il create our own order, and then notify the parties
when the order is signed. That's kind of what we're
asking the Board nenbers -- a notion for. Any
di scussi on?

It |ooks like, Gegory, you have your hand up for

sone reason?

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  Yeah, just to clarify.
So | like the approach that we create our own board
[sic]. Are we going to create that here today, or is
t hat

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Through advi senent of our
counsel, | think what we're | ooking at doing is taking
what ever we have decided | ast neeting and making sure
that reflects both parties' decision in creating our
proposed order. And we'll get it signed and sent to
the parties. And | believe the question that we have,
it sounds like, unless any other nenbers have any

questions, is it sounds like that we are needing two

items that we need to put on there being that -- go
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ahead and say it.

MR BLOHOWN AK:  This is Benjam n Bl ohow ak,
counsel for the Board again. Board Menber Johnson, you
had hi ghlighted a paragraph indicating a proposed order
that offered sone additional factual information. And
| think the motion is to take both these orders under
advi senment. The Board is going to eval uate them and
create an order that it feels best reflects its ruling
based on the orders proposed by the parties. But
specifically, the facts that | think you highlighted
were the location of the work and the nature of the
systeminstalled as, you know, two of the facts that
wer e genui ne issues in dispute that needed further
evidentiary hearings on. You include those, again, to
conme up with an order that the Board feels best
reflects its position.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  Chair Jenkins. Yeah, |
want to nmake sure it got into effect because it's not
limted to. We want to be able to let the ALJ to take
a fresh look at this and include that's appropriate for
t he situation.

Do you have any comments there, M. Gegory
Johnson?

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  Yeah, | fully support

t hat approach. | did want to highlight a couple of
Page 52
iR, Capitol Pacific Reporting, Inc. scheduling@capitolpacificreporting.com

800.407.0148


https://www.capitolpacificreporting.com

© 00 N oo o A W DN PP

N N N N NN P P P P R PP PR
g A W N P O © 0 N O O » W N B O

ELECTRICAL BOARD MEETING
Transcript of Proceedings - April 30, 2026

things, just for when we take it under advisenent, just
for the record. So there is a slight difference inside
t he openi ng paragraph. They were very close, but one
of themnotes -- so KVA has noted an Anderson Hunter
Law Firm PS, and that was omtted from-- that's just
a type -- probably it's inportant to include the |aw
firm

The other thing I've noted is | think what | heard
correctly is you -- both attorneys were am cable for
revising the title of the order fromfinal, if |I'm
correct. So | think everyone agreed.

The other thing I wanted to note, just |ooking at
the Departnent's -- so | already highlighted the
Conclusion of Law 11 and 12 in KVA's, which if we were
to replace, either in part or whole, that would be the
Departnment's section -- | think it's |abeled 2.2. You
have 2.2 repeated nultiple tinmes, but -- at the | ast
2.2's in your conclusion of law section. And then
under the final order, it was just a note was what's
m ssing on the Departnent's is the -- because we have
two votes. W had one vote that was Skagit PUD is an
electric utility as a matter of law. That was Point 13
in KVA's. And there was -- that's not included in the
Department's. So | think Point 13 in the order would

have to i ncl ude.
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And then the 3.1 for the Departnent's, | think that
was pretty concise, but there's a couple of words
mssing. "Reversed in part" on the first page 2, right
at the bottom and then at the very end on page 3,
where it says "Skagit PUD," and then it probably be
appended to say "and work perforned by KVA and Duncan."
And so that's probably inportant to capture that
because we're not just |ooking at Skagit PUD. W're
| ooki ng specifically at the work that KVA and Duncan
perforned. So those are ny redline edits for -- to be
I ncl uded.

CHAI RVMAN JENKINS:  Thank you nuch

Board Menber Kerry Cox.

BOARD MEMBER COX: Yes. Board Menber Cox. |Is
It adequate for the notion sinply to state we will take
It under advisenent, or does it need any nore detail in
what we will be voting on?

MR BLOHON AK: | don't think it needs
anyt hi ng el se.

BOARD MEMBER COX: Thank you, Counsel .

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Chair Jenki ns.

Any ot her questions, comments, Board, concerning
t he notion?

(No response.)

CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS: Hearing none and seeing
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none, all in favor signify by saying "aye."
(Chorus of ayes.)
CHAI RMVAN JENKI NS:  Any opposed?
(No response.)

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS: Hearing none, the notion
passes.

Al right. So once again, parties, what we wll
get -- we'll contact you with our final decision, and
we'll nove on to the next item Any questions or
comrents fromthe two parties?

MR. STEEN. Only briefly. |Is there any
anticipated tineline as to when the proposed order
m ght be provi ded?

CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: Definitely before next
neeting. As far as beyond that, | can't really give
you an answer on that.

MR. STEEN. Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you.

Anyt hing fromthe Departnent?

M5. VU. Yes, Chairman Jenkins. This is
Leah Vu. Just one final remark. The Depart nent
bel i eves that the Paragraph 11 of KVA' s proposed order
Is too prescriptive, in that it directs the judge to
consider the nature of the systemand the |ocation of

the system where the work was perforned. There are
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several parts to this analysis. One being whet her

KVA -- I'"'msorry -- whether Skagit PUD is an electrical
utility. And that was al ready decided by this

El ectrical Board that KV -- that Skagit PUD is an
electrical utility. There's also the consideration of
whet her the area and the equi pnment was under the
exclusive control of Skagit PUD.

And al so, there's a potential for confusion by
limting those two factors to just -- the factors to
just the nature of the systemand the |ocation because
I f the purpose of the high-voltage transfornmer and the
swtching systeminstalled is not for the generation
control transm ssion and distribution of electricity,
then the |l ocation of the system where the work was
perforned becones irrel evant.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Chair Jenkins here.

| think the idea was that we were trying -- we're
going to draft sonething that included but not limted
to those itens. That way the judge has a reason why to
go back to it, but they're not limted to any
particul ar subject. That was our intent. That way
they can -- you can hash through whatever -- when the
Departnment and the other party decides to take this

back to the judge figure out what they want to see.

MR. STEEN. | woul d object to Counsel's new
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argument and attenpt to reopen the record, because
that's what it is. W're bound by the Board's ruling.
And we have a transcript of that. And trying to insert
new i ssues now essentially requires to reopen the

(i ndiscernible). That wouldn't be appropriate. |
think, as we're bound by the record on appeal, we're

al so bound by the Board's determ nation. Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS: Board Menber G egory
Johnson.

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON: | was just going to
suggest it mght be helpful if we just quote the --
instead of referencing the 1981 version of the National
El ectric Code p0.2(B)(5), if we just quote that.

That's a very short paragraph, and that m ght resolve
al | issues.

CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: Okay. Thank you very nuch.

On that note | would Iike to say thank you very
much for your tine to the parties, and enjoy the rest

of your day.

CERTI FI CATI ON CEU QUARTERLY REPCRT, EXAM PROVI DER
UPDATE, LARRY VANCE
CHAI RMAN JENKINS: So nmoving on to -- unless
there are any questions, we're noving on to our next

itemhere, which is -- it looks like we're on
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certification/CEU quarterly report, exam provider
update by technical specialist Larry Vance. Are you
avai |l abl e this norning?

(No response.)

CHAI RMAN JENKINS: Hearing and seei ng none,
"Il look to our secretary. Wayne Ml esworth, do we
have someone that wants to cover our |tem Nunber 57

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: Chai rman Jenki ns,
| have --

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Onh, there we are. Thank
you.

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: |'ve overcone --
|'ve overconme ny | T obstacles, and | believe that I'm
ready.

CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS:  Thank you much. The fl oor
IS yours.

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: Thank you very
much, Chairman Jenkins, nenbers of the Board. M nane
Is Larry Vance. | ama technical specialist for the
Department of Labor and Industries. Today | would |ike
to share information with you about -- about first-tine
pass rates for the examnation. |f there's any new
menbers of the Board, the purpose of this report is
just to show -- we track first-tine pass rates to see

If there's any anonalies in the exam and just for --
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just to track consistency. First-tine pass rates are
probably a reflection of how well people are prepared
on their first attenpt. The pass rate for 01 journey
| evel electrician examremains just under 50 percent,
which is consistent with prior reports. There's --
probably, when you get down to the specialties, that
nunber falls nearly in half. Mst specialties,
4, 000- hour specialties are in the range of, say,
between 28 and 24. So that it -- you know, it's -- it
just shows that there's not a | ot of apprenticeship,
there's not a |ot of apprenticeship influence as far as
famliarity wwth the National Electric Code, and
electrical laws and rules, and electrical theory, just
the basics that they're testing on during an open-book
exam Qur exans are all open-book, so it's -- we don't
want to make any judgnents, but, you know, typically
it's -- exans are about preparation. Especially
open- book exans, you have to be famliar with the
reference material. And generally you bring all the
answers in with you, so that's just the nature of an
open- book exam

Does anyone have any questions about other pass
rates or any other questions on this topic?

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Chai r Jenki ns.

If this is a report that you' re saying are the pass
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rates, is there a sinple way of having these thin

order, so attenpt nunber one, two, three, four, f
a row?

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: Yeah, that
be --

CHAI RMAN JENKINS: In a way that --

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: Well, they
|isted. And unfortunately, when we |ook at the n
of exans that we deliver, this -- they will -- an
type wll appear on this report if it was deliver
And | believe that there is 41 different exans, |

bel i eve, because you have all of the -- all of th

exams, a telecommunication adm nistrator exam an
el ectrician exam and a master electrician exam
woul d be a manual process to go through on this r
and conpile that data, if there was a conpel |ing
to do so.

CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS: The question | was as
about, like the 01 exam general exans, are liste
of haphazardly, attenpt nunber 22, attenpt nunber

makes nme still wondering why we still have those.

sinple, you know, "click button" (indiscernible)

adm ni strator exans, all of the nmaster electrician

then they're just not really any order. |If there's a

redone, but if it's not a big deal and -- or is a big

gs in

ive In

woul d

are

unber
exam

ed.

e

So it
eport

reason

Ki ng
d ki nd
0,

But
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deal, do the Board nenbers have any coments or
questi ons?

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: Well, that's an
excell ent segue into the next topic, and that is exam
provi der contract, and | don't have a |ot of
information today. What | do have information about
Is, is that there's been a recommendati on nade, and we
cannot reveal the identity of the contractor. But we
are noving towards executing a contract wth a
provi der, examprovider. So at that tine, that's --
that's a great tine to adjust these reports and nake
them-- you know, why aren't they -- it's -- it's very
sinple, | believe -- and |'mnot an expert, but -- for
themto be in order of attenpt. You know, descending
order, ascendi ng order, whatever you want in that call
So we'll certainly keep that in mnd and try to produce
a better report.

CHAI RMAN JENKINS: |I'mnot (indiscernible)
report. | just thought is would be nice to have that.
It was just a coment.

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: | agree 100
percent. | nmean it should -- that's really what we're
| ooking at, is attenpts, not so nmuch other colums. W
li ke attenpts, and we like totals. Right? | nean

that's kind of the two things that we | ook at. How
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many people are taking the exan? What are the pass
rates? You get into that other attenpts beyond Attenpt
Nunber 1, and nowit's really hard to assess what's
going on there. But with the way that exans are --
exam candi dates are tracked, when you enter the system
you will be -- you're tracked conpletely through your
exam hi story. You can have a one-year exam period, not
succeed. Go into your second one-year exam period, not
succeed. You're tracked as to what your attenpt is.
And those are reflected on this report. So it doesn't
mean that all the previous attenpts are in this year.
It just neans that sonebody, for instance, nade their
eighth attenpt this year, and here's the result. So
it's kind of a -- it's kind of a noving target.
CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you.
| s there any other questions?
Board Menber Kerry Cox.
BOARD MEMBER COX: Yes. Board Menber Cox.
Hel |l o, Larry.
TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: Hi, Kerry.
BOARD MEMBER COX: Question is: How do you
attribute -- as | heard you say, how do you attribute
| ower pass rates of the specialties to | ack of
apprenticeship? |Is there a statistic |'mnot seeing?

Are we nmaki ng an assunption?
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TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: No. It would be,
| guess, averages. So in the past, we've done sone
wor k, manual work to understand what first-tinme pass
rates are with apprenticeshi p backgrounds. Wen
I ndi vi dual s have apprenticeshi p background, when they
conpl ete an apprenticeship, their pass rate is -- say
it's in the 70 percentile range. So the average then
starts -- you al so have others com ng at the 01 exam
that have also -- maybe they're, say, a certified
el ectrician in another state, maybe they've got an
apprenticeshi p background. There's just a |ot nore
education of 01 electricians present for the candi dates
taking the exam So those average out at a higher
average. That's just -- you know. And because we
don't have a |l ot of apprenticeships in other states, or
even within this state, for, say, the residential 02
specialty, not a ot of participation in the 06 A
wor |l d, sone participation in the 06 limted energy
worl d, those are not influenced that way then. So we
just kind of base it on what we know fromfirst-tine
pass rates for those that just conpleted
apprenticeshi ps or have conpl eted apprenticeshi ps.

BOARD MEMBER COX: So if | heard you
correctly, there was sone behi nd-t he-scenes work that

you' ve done that isn't necessarily reflected as a
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statistic in the document presented to us today?

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: Correct. W
don't -- we don't have a system where we have a
Candi date A that's an apprenticeship -- person that's
conpl eted an apprenticeship and a Candi date B.

There's -- we don't have any way to track that or split
that in our system That's conpletely a nmanual
process. And there's prior mnutes of these Board
meetings that discuss that difference. And those are
fromyears ago, but they are a matter of record.

BOARD MEMBER COX: But it's manual work that
has been done to assess the two different categories,
W th apprenticeship experience and without. |s that
what |'m - -

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: Correct.

Correct.

BOARD MEMBER COX: Ckay. Very good. So it's
not just an assunption. |It's actually |egwork that was
done behind the scenes. Very good. Thank you, Larry.

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: Yes. Correct.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS: Secretary Wayne Mol eswort h,
do you have a question, comment?

SECRETARY MOLESWORTH. No, Chair. |
appreciate what Larry brings to this and the data that

we See.
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| do want to nake a comment, being probably one of
the |last opportunities that |'mgoing to have to
address this Board fromny seat, is that one of the
things that we see is -- and to M. Cox's question,
there's so many different facets to why people may or
not be doing well on an exam right down to "Do they
not do well on exanms? Do they have any sort of a
| earning disability?" Those types of things. There's
so many different facets that cone into play. MW
concern when | ook at the data like this -- and |'ve
interviewed a lot of electricians in the |ast few
years -- is that we as an industry are not doing a good
job of training our electricians to the point where
t hey can supervise and train trainees and apprentices.
W are slowy noving towards a part where we're
training mechanics, and we're not training electricians.
And they're losing the idea of what the code neans, how
to use a code book, the theory behind what they're
actually doing. And so when | interview electricians
for inspector jobs, even, what we see is that we're
I nterview ng people that know how to run conduit, you
know, how to pull wre. They know the mechani cal end
of this. And I think that by inplenenting
apprenticeships we've done a little bit nore to enhance

that. But we really need to get out into the enployers
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and really make sure that we're getting the
supervision. W wite a lot of citations to |ack of
supervi sion. And | ack of supervision leads to
untrai ned trainees, untrained apprentices. And | think
that's sonething that this Board and the program needs
to consider going forward, is how do we effect that
better? How do we want this industry to nove forward?
And so | just wanted to nention that as one of ny
closing cooments for this Board, is that it concerns
me. That's all. Thank you, Chair, for indulging ne.
CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS:  Thank you.
Techni cal Specialist Larry Vance, do you want to
make any nore questions -- or information? Sorry.
TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: All right. Thank
you very nuch
CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Al right.

RULEMAKI NG UPDATES, L& STAFF
CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS: So noving on to rul enaking
updates, L& staff, | don't know who's assigned to this
one, but maybe our secretary knows? Onh, there we go.
TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST LATHROP: Lorin Lathrop,
technical specialist with the Departnent. Qur team of

M. Vance and M. Barnes and | are kind of tag-team ng

this topic for you this afternoon -- this norning. So
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|'mgoing to start with the fee increase that is com ng
up in the rulemaking. W -- the Departnent has
proposed a 6.51 percent fiscal growh factor increase
to our fees. This is a standard yearly process that we
try to keep up with inflation. And |ast nonth -- at
t he begi nning of March, | should say, we had a public
hearing at that point, and we received no comment on
either for or against for the increase. And as of
right now, if everything goes along the schedule, we
w Il have those fees in place on July 1st of 2026.
| f anyone has any questions, you can ask nme now or

we can conme back to it later.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Chai r Jenki ns.

You want a notion fromthe Board concerning that?

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST LATHROP: | don't believe
we need one. If you would like to support it, we wll
al ways take your support.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS: Hearing nothing fromthe
Board, 1'd say go ahead and conti nue.

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST LATHROP: Well, wth that
| will hand the baton to M. Randy Barnes.

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST BARNES: Good afternoon.
Good norning. This is Randy Barnes, technical

specialist for Wayne Mol esworth. Last nane

B-a-r-n-e-s. I'mhere to give you an update on the
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rul emaki ng for the 2026 NEC Code adoption. W recently
had the TAC conmttee neet on April 1st. W had 28
menbers, 24 of which nade it to the neeting, and two of
whi ch were board nenbers. There were 22 proposed
amendnents fromthe public. Those proposed anmendnents
have been posted on our |aws and rul es page. They were
provided to the chairman of the Board, M. Jenkins, the
two Board nenbers that attended.

Wien we review these, we'd ask you as a Board, when
you get a chance to review these, and ask for your
support. The TAC comm ttee provided us their input.
And we had only a couple of proposals that received the
majority of support fromthe commttee to nove forward.

The next step of this would be our -- excuse ne --
our first draft rules. Those will be posted on our
website here shortly.

The next step after that would be the public
coment period. That would start -- let's see -- July.
So our CR 102 for the first draft rules would be filed
in July. The public comment period would start right
after the CR 102 is filed. That would run until
August, when we have the public hearing would be
schedul ed. And then we have the public hearing that
woul d be held in Tumwater as a hybrid neeting.

Sone of the anmendnents that were supported or
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proposed by the Board that received nmajority support,
they had to do with 210.8, expanding the -- or
providing a clear definition of GFCl protection for
outlets near a shower or wthin spray of a shower.

This was an existing code referenced before. It's just
that we clarified that G-Cl protection for outlets not
just within five foot of the edge of a tub or an

encl osed shower that was subject to spray froma
shower .

The second one that received majority support by
the TAC conmttee to support was 450.027, and this was
modi fyi ng existing | anguage to clarify the I ocation of
oil-filled transfornmers near conbustible equipnent --
or conbustible material, conbustible surfaces. Again,
this was an existing section. It just clarified sone
of the language and to bring it into current |anguage
supported by things |ike the |IBC

The |l ast one that actually received a majority of
support was adding a new section for 706, which is
energy storage systens. And this new section would
just require sonething that we've required in PV
systens, other itens |like any parallel generation
systens. So it would require the installer to have
desi gn-revi ewed docunents on site, as defined by WAC
296-46(B)-100. And this is sonething that the
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installer already has to do to put in these energy
storage systens. It's just that we're formalizing that
t hese docunents need to be on site until the

I nspections process is conplete. Qut of the 22
proposals, that was the extent of the proposals that a
majority of the TAC supported and provided input on in
t he supporti ng.

We do have anot her section that we did not get
supported, necessarily, by the TAC but will have to be
reviewed, and that has to do wth 210.8(F), and this is
G-Cl protections of HVAC equi pnent. And in the 2026
code, we had a delay of any requirenents for G-Cl
protection for H/AC outlets in 201.8. That expires in
Septenber. W don't adopt the code until Decenber 31,
of 2021. The new 2026 NEC addressed the issues with
t hat by providing an allowance for a special purpose, a
Class C special purpose G-Cl, also called an HF or an
HF- pl us. There's concern that we may have to review
cone Decenber -- or excuse nme -- January if that
product is readily available. |f that product is not
readily available, we may have to del ay enforcenent
until that product is readily avail able, but we can
review that at the tinme. The chief can review product
w th product manufacturers and see if that product is

readi |y avail abl e.
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CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Chai r Jenki ns.

Concerning the last one with the readily avail abl e,
isn't there a process that's available that we coul d
kind of rush a nodification in cases |ike that com ng
up? | thought there was a process that allows for
sonet hi ng.

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST BARNES: There is, but,
you know, we've shown historically that we have ability
to delay enforcenent of a particular code if there's
not a product available. And I would give an exanple
of the six-pack enclosures, the six-handle rule with
separation that we had del ayed enforcenent because that
product was not readily available, which is about to
expire, as a sidenote.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you nuch.

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST BARNES: And if there are
any ot her discussions or comments or questions about
ot her proposals that were proposed, again, you had two
board nenbers that were present at the TAC that can
speak on those.

CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS:  Chai rman Jenki ns one nore
time.

| tem Nunmber 9, are we turning back for technical
advi sory neeting updates, or is there -- is that part

of this, or is that sonething totally separate on the
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agenda in front of you?

SECRETARY MOLESWORTH: | think at this point,
Randy, are we | ooking for support fromthe Board on
those that were unaninmous at the TAC -- or not
unani nous, but had majority backing at the TAC, or are
we going to cover that in line 9, the advisory
conm ttee updates, the TAC updates?

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST BARNES: Sorry. | didn't
have an answer for that. | don't actually have the
agenda sitting here, and | apol ogi ze.

W woul d ask for the commttee's support. W do
have a second round of this. As | stated, we wll have
t he proposed | anguage changes -- right? -- our first
draft | anguage posted on our site soon, and we can send
to the Board. | would anticipate that we woul d be
asking the Board for support of that draft |anguage at
t he next Board neeting. That would give themthe
opportunity between this Board neeting and the next
Board neeting to review the proposals and the proposed
rul e | anguage, and then provide their input and
support. | think this is an opportunity for themto
di scuss these proposals that they want now. But we're
asking for their support at the next Board neeting.

SECRETARY MOLESWORTH:  Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  Chair Jenki ns here.
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| s there any updates or comments fromthe two
menbers that went to the actual neeting, anything that
cones to mnd that needs to be assessed at this point?
(No response.)
CHAI RMAN JENKINS: Hearing none, Greg was the
ot her person. Did you have anything that you want to

bring up now, or are you good with waiting for the next

nmeeti ng?

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON:  |' m happy to wait.
mean | took detailed notes. So if people have
questions, |'mhappy to answer themor cover things in
detail, or if we want to wait, |I'mhappy with that or
not do it.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Chair Jenki ns agai n.
Seei ng none, no hands up, no one is speaking up,
| ooks |ike we're good to go keep noving forward there.
TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST BARNES: Thank you for
your tinme.
CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  Chair Jenki ns.
Are you covering the electric vehicle supply
equi pnent, or is that soneone el se?
TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST VANCE: Chair Jenki ns,
this is Larry Vance with Labor & Industries. [1'll be
covering the EVITP, electrical adm nistrator, and exam

rul emaki ng.
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This rulemaking is back on the rails, so to speak.
W were trying to coordinate it with some IT work. And
what we found was is that there are obstacles on the IT
side to conpleting the rulemaking in the tine that we
woul d |like to acconplish it. So we are essentially
amendi ng the proposed -- the rules that we intended in
just a few mnor ways. Essentially, there's going to
be no changes to the way that we currently -- that we
currently adm nister adm nistrator exans. They are
kind of a different -- they're admnistered differently
fromthe standpoint of how a candi date approaches
testing. In the law, we cannot require an
adm nistrator to apply to the Departnent for approval
for the exam And so, therefore, we don't know if they
are taking the examor not. Anybody can go contact the
testing vendor and take the exam \Wen their first
attenpt occurs, that starts their one-year exam period.
And it's going to remain that way until a tinme when we
can -- I T wll go first. W'Il have the IT solution in
place. Then we will intend on making sonme rules. And
we then be able to align electricians and
admnistrators in the sane |ane, so to speak. Meaning
that it starts when they receive a unique examID from
the Departnent. And that is -- that is the nunber

that's used to shake hands back and forth with the
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testing vendor so we all know who this person is, and
we communi cate back and forth accurately about the
candi dat e.

There's no changes to the EVITP rules that were
made since we started this process.

No changes to the examrules other than the fact
that we have found -- we did make one change, and the
change had to do with accommodati ons for exans.

There's a section in the rul emaking that speaks to
accommodations for those wth disabilities and
accommodations for those with [imted English
proficiency. And what we found -- we worked wi th our
civil rights group within the Departnent, and we find
ourself in a strange place because we're a state, and
we're trying to kind of regulate or adm nister a
federal requirenment and interpret federal guidance.
And after discussions with our civil rights group, they
said, you know, it's -- rules are not really needed.
You don't need state rules. The testing vendor is
bound by federal guidance and federal guidelines,
federal laws, and so is the state, so no need to nake
t hose.

So what we've done is that we've just renoved those
fromthe admnistrative rules, and we wll be follow ng

t he federal guidance and federal guidelines, as wll
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the testing provider. So it's just getting rid of sone
unnecessary -- it's just -- it created unnecessary
conplications to the process. W don't need to be

bet ween the candi date and the provider as far as an

accommodation for the exam So we don't have -- we
don't have nedical -- we don't have nedical expertise
or expertise in learning or -- the rules put us in a

pl ace that we didn't have the ability, really, to act

w th knowl edge. And we don't need to because there's
federal guidance out there that says what we need to do
or what the vendor needs to do, whoever is providing

t he exam

So in short -- and | knowthat's a long -- and |
apol ogi ze for how long that is. But we've done a | ot
of work to understand our role in exam acconmpdati ons.
And as a result, we are renoving our regulations around
that and going with the federal regulations.

So other than that, | believe that our next step is
to provide a copy of the draft rule, and then of course
we' ||l provide a copy of the proposed rule. That wll
be the CR 102 process. And then we'll go into the
formal public comment period, which will culmnate in a
public hearing. And then, of course, as the rules
progress, if they do progress, the next step after that

Is the actual filing of the rule, which is the CR 103.
Page 76

,:A Capitol Pacific Reporting, Inc. scheduling@capitolpacificreporting.com

800.407.0148


https://www.capitolpacificreporting.com

© 00 N oo o A W DN PP

N N N N NN P P P P R PP PR
g A W N P O © 0 N O O » W N B O

ELECTRICAL BOARD MEETING
Transcript of Proceedings - April 30, 2026

We don't have an exact tinmeline for that, but what |
can report is it's noving. So that's what | have.
CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  Chair Jenki ns here.
Thank you very nuch.
Are there any questions fromthe Board for
Techni cal Specialist Larry Vance?
(No response.)
CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: And |'m going to continue
using that (indiscernible) every chance | get.
Any questions, coments fromthe Board?
(No response.)
CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: Al right. Appreciate

t hat .
LEG SLATI VE UPDATE, L& STAFF
CHAI RMAN JENKINS:  Moving on to our
| egi slation update. I'mgoing to go back to one item|

failed on ny part to bring up, and we've got a proposed
order for M. Subzeck (phonetic). |Is M. Subzeck here
avai l able today? 1Is he in the neeting? Gve a second
| onger to speak up or say sonething.

MR. MACCANON: Yes. Good norning. This is

Justin MacCanon, assistant attorney general, and |

filed the proposed final order. | do not know if
M. Subzeck will be here today. | did provide it to
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him He did not respond to any of ny emails.
CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Okay. Gve himjust a

second | onger to nake sure that he's popped in in any

way, shape, or form And if nothing is -- in the next
little bit here, 1'Il be signing that order as
present ed.

And nmoving on to the next one. Thank you very nuch
for your time. Thanks for show ng up here and bringing
that to our attention.

MR. MACCANON:  Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS: Next itemon our --
actually, | should ask: How s the reporter doing? Are
we still good? Do we need a break?

THE COURT REPORTER: No, we're good.

LEG SLATI VE UPDATE, L& STAFF

CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS: Ckay. Moving on to our
Nunber 7, Legislative Update, L& staff. [|'mnot sure
who' s assigned that one, but

TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST LATHROP:  Chair Jenkins,
this is Technical Specialist Lorin Lathrop. | wll be
giving you that report today.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you nmuch. The fl oor

IS yours.
TECHNI CAL SPECI ALI ST LATHROP: So this past
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year, there was short session wth the Legislature, and
a nunber of bills were introduced that involved quite a
bit of work, however only one passed through the

Legi slature and was signed into |law, and that was
Substituted House Bill 2492. And at the heart of this,
what it allows for is that the proponents saw the need
for mental health training for construction and
bui |l ding trades workers. So they made a proposal. And
the effects for us is that we now have the ability to
offer mental health training as a continuing education
unit or CEU.

So what the Departnment has to do at this point is
we are starting the process of |ooking at rul emaking.
As you can see, we have a few other ones going, so one
isn't quite as far along as we would like it to be, but
we're working on it. And we are |ooking at how we can
introduce this into our rules for continuing education,
and how do we certify -- certify is the wong word.

How do we approve providers that can give this
training? And it functions a lot like First Aild, CPR
and AED training that we already give continuing
education credits for. So that was the only thing that
really cane out, and we've got work to do around this
subject. But that was the only |egislative change that

we had this year.
Page 79

,:A Capitol Pacific Reporting, Inc. scheduling@capitolpacificreporting.com

800.407.0148


https://www.capitolpacificreporting.com

© 00 N oo o A W DN PP

N N N N NN P P P P R PP PR
g A W N P O © 0 N O O » W N B O

ELECTRICAL BOARD MEETING
Transcript of Proceedings - April 30, 2026

| would Iike to say that we -- just to be clear,

we're not offering the training. Qur role init is to
approve providers. And just |ike any other continuing
education, we then -- people put on the record, and we
approve it so.

CHAI RMAN JENKINS: Okay. Are there any
questions fromthe Board?

(No response.)
CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: Al right. Thank you very

much for your time. | appreciate that.

SECRETARY' S REPORT, WAYNE MOLESWORTH
CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: All right. NMwving on to
our last tine we're going to hear fromour secretary
Wayne Mol esworth for our secretary's report. And maybe
we won't hear fromhimagain. | |ove technol ogy.
SECRETARY MOLESWORTH:  Love technol ogy,
especially when |I'mthe cause of bad technol ogy.
Now t hat | have unnmuted nyself -- sorry -- thank
you, Chair Jenkins and Board. M nane is Wayne
Mol esworth. |1'mthe secretary for the Board and al so
the chief electrical inspector. | wll be reading the
secretary's report into the record today.
As of April 30, 2026, the budget, the Departnment

continues to have a revenue reporting discrepancy we
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are working to resolve. Wuen it is, we'll be able to
give a full account of electrical fund bal ance and
revenue. The data reported here is not conplete at
this tine, but we wsh to share what we can with the
El ectrical Board.

The el ectrical fund balance on March 31, 2026, was
$9, 074,571, which is about 2.7 tines the average
nonthly operating expenditure. The average nonthly
operating expenditure for the third quarter of fiscal
year FY 2026 was $2,931, 810 conpared to $2, 955, 424 for
the sanme period last year. This is a decrease of about
1 percent.

March 2026 custoner service, there were 39, 245
permts sold |last quarter. 98.6 percent or 38,691 were
processed online, which is a decrease of .2 percent
fromlast quarter. 99.6 percent of the contractor
permts are sold online, which is an increase of .1
percent fromthe previous quarter. Honmeowners online
sales fromthis quarter is 83.1 percent, which is a 3.2
percent decrease fromthe previous quarter. Online
I nspection requests are 73.5 percent, whichis a 2.1
percent decrease fromlast quarter. During this
quarter custoners 92.0 percent of all electrical
i cense renewal s online, which is a .2 percent increase

fromlast quarter.
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Drop down to key performance neasures. This
conpares FY '25 with fiscal year 2026. The percent of
I nspections perforned within 24 hours of request, in
2025 for this period of tinme, it was 82 percent, and
currently it was 81 percent for this quarter. Percent
of inspections perforned within 48 hours of request,
the goal is 94 percent. Last year at this time, we did
93. And currently nowit's 94 percent during this
quarter. Total inspections perforned in 2025 for this
period of tine, it was 60,822. Currently it's 59, 975
for that same tine period currently. Virtua
el ectrical inspections perforned, 11,505 in 2025. And
14,244 percent [sic] of the inspections are done
through virtual electrical inspection. | want to add
here that we're right at about 28 percent of our total
I nspections being done by virtual electrical
I nspections at this tinme.

Nunber of focus citations and warnings. In 2025 it
was 116 processed citations with 852 citations still
awai ting processing at that time. Currently, in the
field they did 57, E-CORE did 55, for a total of 112.
Matrix citations not reported. And 3,981 citations are
still awaiting processing.

| nspection stops per inspector per day, this is a

wor kl oad indicator only. It was 11.2 |ast year, 11.2
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this sane tinme this year. Serious electrica
corrections that would result in disconnection of
power, 7,750 in 2025, and 7,213 in 2026.

Turnaround tinme for average plan set reviewed for
plan review, |ast year was two days. And currently
we're at three days for processing. Plan pages
reviewed -- all electronically now-- is in 2025 it was
1,126, and in 2026 it was 974.

Percent of warnings by focus violation type,
| icensing, certification, 14 percent. Permts, 78
percent. Training supervision, 7 percent. And all
focus violation, there were 12.5 percent of the
war ni ngs on focus violations.

The data above reflects citations and warni ngs
I ssued from January 1, 2026, through March 31, 2026.
Citations processing has been del ayed due to having no
staff in the citation desk of the electrical program
since Decenber 2024. I|1'mgoing to add a little bit
here to this. Staffing has now been filled. W've --
we're fully staffed in citations, and we have added
three positions to our licensing staff. And they're in
the process -- or four, actually, in the licensing
area, and they're currently in the process of training
the new staff in licensing. And the people doing the

training, a lot of tinmes are the people that were in
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citations because they used to do that job. And so
there's a |lot of cross-training going on. W expect
that when we hit July that we'll have a pretty good
handl e on the citations going out, although we're going
to stagger themjust slightly so that we don't overl oad
the systemw th appeals. And so we'll see how that
goes. But we do have a tinmefrane that we have to stick
to by statute.

Next, electrical licensing citations anusenent ride
and appeals. As of April 9, 2026, there are
approximately 1,550 itens awaiting processing by the
licensing team wth a processing delay of about 75
days. O the total itenms waiting, about 1,200 are

affidavits of experience.

In addition to processing docunents, |icensing
staff are responsible for answering all incom ng
el ectrical licensing phone calls. Between January 1st

and March 31, 2026, the teamreceived 5,100 calls.
Thi s nunmber does not include calls nade by staff --
made to staff nmenbers' direct |ines, outbound calls to
customers, or calls fromregional office partners who
need assi stance while hel ping custoners in person.

The three citations, anusenent rides, and appeal s
program speci al i st positions have been filled.

However, the individuals who noved into these rol es
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previously served as custoner service specialists
within licensing. They continue to support the

i censing team by assisting and training our six newy
hi red custoner service specialists. Al nine |icensing
custoner service positions have recently been filled.
Due to the ampbunt of new staff training, response tines
are significantly delayed, and sone work streans have
been temporarily paused due to Iimted capacity.

Testing lab report. There are no new testing |abs
to report.

And past legislation -- we just got done talKking
about that -- was House Bill 2492, which anmends RCW
19. 28. 211 for continuing education requirenments.

El ectricians nmay count up to four conpleted hours in
behavi or health and wel |l ness training provided by the
departnment towards the 24-hour required for renewal .
Agai n, the agency does not supply this training. W
just approve instructors for this training and
criterion. So they are able to count that towards
their total nunber of hours to renew

CHAI RMAN JENKI NS: Chair Jenkins here.

Looki ng at your -- your (indiscernible) |ooks |ike
they're on track to get those all at |east partially
corrected in July, by July's neeting. That sound

correct? |s that what you're trying to say?
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SECRETARY MOLESWORTH:  Well, we'll be noving
in that direction pretty strongly by then. Right? It
really just depends on what cones in between now and
t hen, how the training goes for new staff, and maki ng
sure that we can get them processed. W get a couple
hundred every -- every nonth, and so that adds to it.
But we are noving closer and closer to it every day
with training these new staff.

CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: And | appreciate the
information. |s there anything the Board can do or say
to help out with this, or are we -- you good?

SECRETARY MOLESWORTH:  You know, | ook over
there at Jenn Dietrich and say thank you for that extra
work. It's been an uphill battle for her constantly.
She and Anber Bach really are instrunental in getting
t hese positions approved. There's a lot of work to
even getting a position approved to hire these days
because we do still have a hiring freeze and a travel
freeze. Soit's -- it's alot of work for them

So thank you, Jenn. W appreciate that work.

CHAI RVMAN JENKINS: And | think | speak for the
rest of the Board. Thank you al so.

Thank you very nuch, Wayne. |[Is there any other

coments you'd |ike to nake?

SECRETARY MOLESWORTH:  Yeah, | -- you know, |
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wanted to take a couple of mnutes and thank the Board
for the six years that |'ve been involved with the
Board. This is ny last neeting as the chief and as
secretary. That doesn't nean that |'mnot going to be
here pestering you every once in a while as a -- as
sonebody watching and -- or if they ever open a
position I'd qualify that | wouldn't apply for a
position on the Board. This is a board that nakes a
big difference. Even though they call it an advisory
board, your advice is always very thoroughly

consi dered, and nost of the tinme we accept that

gui dance. And we | ook for how we can inprove the
program so we don't have to seek your guidance in the
future for those sane particular reasons. And so |
just want to thank you. |'ve probably been one of the
nmore vocal chiefs in the past. And thank you for
tolerating me and understanding this is a very -- |I'm
very passionate about this industry, and it's been ny
whol e life.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  And |I'Il say that | think
your shoes are going to be pretty hard to fill. | know
|'mgoing to mss you on being on the Board and the
information. | have really appreciated what you' ve
done.

| f any ot her Board nenbers would |ike to speak up,
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now would be the tine to do it.

Board Menber G egory Johnson.

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON: Yeah, | just want to
really express ny appreciation. | really appreciate
how you' re professional, Wayne, all the tine. And I
real |y appreciate your passion, especially for safety
and protecting the industry and -- and protecting the
general public too. And | really appreciate your
I nsi ght and your perspective on everything. So thank
you so nuch.

SECRETARY MOLESWORTH:  Thank you, G egory.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  This is Chair Jenkins
agai n.

Thank you again. | can't say it enough. And I
hope your next endeavors are as good as the one you're
I n now.

SECRETARY MOLESWORTH:  Thank you, Chair.
Appreciate it.

Agai n, thank you, Board.

TECHNI CAL ADVI SORY COW TTEE ( TAC) UPDATES
CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  Moving on to our |tem

Nurmber 9, which I think we've already taken care of,

the technical advisory commttee updates. | guess
we'll have those at our next neeting as far as nore
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details on that.

PUBLI C COMVENT REGARDI NG | TEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA

CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  And we are up to Nunber 10,
our public comments regarding itens not on the agenda.

So we've heard we have four people signed up to
actually speak here at this tine.

Before | do that, | want to ask, first of all, our
reporter, how are you doi ng?

THE COURT REPORTER |'mdoing fine. Thank
you.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  And the rest of the Board,
how are you all doing? Do you need to take a break
here before we get on this, or do you want to push
t hr ough?

UNI DENTI FI ED SPEAKER:  Push t hr ough.

SECRETARY MOLESWORTH:  Chair, is Brian
Hor nback in the roon?

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: He was earlier. | think he
| eft again.
SECRETARY MOLESWORTH: Ckay. | was just -- he

may have had sonething to say. He m ght have gotten
busy. So | just wanted to --
CHAI RVAN JENKINS: He may have a coupl e of

m nutes. He can probably popinalittle bit. "Il
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| eave a little spot at the end if he wants to say
sonet hi ng.

SECRETARY MOLESWORTH: Al right. Sounds
good. Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you.

Al right. So we're at public comments. And it

| ooks Ii ke we have an Alex Zimer. Wuld you like to
take a seat up here up front, and you're welcone to
address the Board.

MR. ZIMVER  For the record, nmy nane is Al ex
Zimrer. |'man 02 electrician wwth WIf Industries.
We are a nodul ar hone builder fromBattle G ound, and
we build 130 to 140 houses a year. | just want to
support the Proposal Nunber 9, which is dealing with
I sl and plugs. And yeah, | would like it if the Board
woul d support that as well. W deal with a |ot of
custoners that just kind of get confused as to why the
traditional island plugs aren't allowed anynore. And,
yeah, | have a hard tine justifying it to
(i ndiscernible) all the changes we went through
(i ndiscerni ble) past code iteration. So, yeah, as
al ways, whatever we -- whatever you decide is what
we'll go with. That was it for ne. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN JENKI NS: Thank you very nuch.
Appreciate it.
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Ki nd of going back and forth, |ooks |ike we have

Patrick Hanks; is that correct?
MR. HANKS: Yes.
SECRETARY JENKINS: The floor is yours.
MR HANKS: Awesone. Thank you.

For the record, ny nanme is Patrick Hanks,
representing the Building Industry Association of
Washi ngton, here to provide public coment in support
of Proposal Nunber 9 and encourage the Board to support
t he adoption of this proposal.

The proposal wi |l adopt recommended | anguage by
NAHB, and that several other states have adopted
simlar amendnents as well. There really is a | ack of
data supporting the need for kitchen island pop-up
requi rements in the NEC

The Consumer Product Safety Conm ssion, over a
30-year period, only has 45 reported instances of
injuries from appliances being pulled dowmn fromthe
countertops. This is statistically an extrenely snall
amount of injuries for the entire U.S. The data al so
does not distinguish if the instances were specifically
from cooki ng appliances being pulled dowm by the cord
on island countertops.

Pop-up outlets are drastically nore expensive than

traditional outlets, and our menbers find that many
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consuners do not |ike themand do not want them

Pop-up outlets are nore likely to be damaged by spilled
l'iquids on counters and create nore expensive repair or
repl acenent cost for honeowners.

The | anguage does not even prohibit outlets from
bei ng bel ow the countertop, nor does it stop honmeowners
or renters fromrunning extension cords from ot her
outlets to run appliances on the kitchen island
countertops. At the end of day the safe use of cooking
appliances within manufacturer guidelines falls on the
consuner. Traditional outlets bel ow countertops are
not inherently unsafe. | encourage the Board to
support that proposal.

Al so, Proposal Nunber 421 did not get mgjority
support at the TAG but there was strong support as a
TAG nenber. And encourage the Board to al so | ook at
t hose proposal s and support them Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very nuch.

So our next person on the list here is Carolyn
Logue.

MS. LOGUE: Thank you, Chair Jenkins, nenbers
of the Board. M nane is Carolyn Logue -- that's, for
the court reporter, Ca-r-o-l-y-n and L-o0-g-u-e -- and
|''mrepresenting the Washington Air Conditioning
Contractors Associ ation, which represents HVAC
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contractors across Washington State. | appreciate the
opportunity to speak. | want to speak on two of the
proposals that are before the TAC. The first, Nunber
4, regarding the HFC -- or the HVAC GFCl change, we
recogni ze that the NEC noved to require this Septenber
1, 2026. Qur proposal that we put forward originally
asked to extend that exenption in WAshington to

Sept enber 1st '29, but the TAC thought that this was
too long. We would Iike to encourage di scussion on
this, and what woul d be reasonabl e recogni zi ng that
whi | e manufacturers are gearing up to have the

equi prent neeting this requirenment on Septenber 1st of
this year. There needs to be sone recognition that
there is equipnment in this state that has al ready been
pur chased and designed to be put into honmes, et cetera,
that may not neet this requirenment. In addition,

there was -- | think it was M. Lathrop said there may
not be enough product readily available i mediately.

So we would Iike to ask if three years is too |ong,
perhaps there is a nore reasonabl e extension, one year,
you know, 18 nonths, two years, sonething like that, to
accommodat e t hese concerns and just nake sure that the
I ndustry is -- the equipnent is here, and we're not

del ayi ng projects just because we need to scranble to

try and neet this requirenent. So that's our first
Page 93

,:A‘ Capitol Pacific Reporting, Inc. scheduling@capitolpacificreporting.com

800.407.0148


https://www.capitolpacificreporting.com

© 00 N oo o A W DN PP

N N N N NN P P P P R PP PR
g A W N P O © 0 N O O » W N B O

ELECTRICAL BOARD MEETING
Transcript of Proceedings - April 30, 2026

one.
| ' m al so here whol eheartedly in support of Proposal
21. | think we've been before several tines on this,
and it's very inportant that this happen. This would
al | ow 06A certified HVAC specialty electricians to
performthe electrical connections between indoor and
outdoor units on mni split systenms. W would like to
see this proposal get far nore discussion and
consideration than it actually received in the TAC
And in fact, a very simlar proposal went all the way
t hrough the process last tinme rules were updated.
There were sone di scussi on happening, and really just
no -- you know, no recomendations came out of that.
But it is sonething that needs to be consi dered.
Proposal 21 is very specific to when the change
woul d be al l omwed and under what conditions. |t
provi des very specific situations and is not just a
general "Oh, let themdo that." It is very specific.
First and forenost, this proposal does not reduce
safety in any way. Al work will continue to be
permtted and inspected under L& requirenents. The
same code applies. The sane inspections apply. The
same accountability applies, regardl ess of whether the
work is perfornmed by an 01, 02, or O06A el ectrician.

What this proposal does is align the scope of work with
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the actual training and expertise of the 06A
electricians. These are state-certified professionals
who are specifically trained and tested on HVAC
equi pnent, how to interpret the nanme plate size
conductors, apply overcurrent (indiscernible) and
conpl ete the exact connections required for these
systens. |In fact, O6A electricians often have nore
hands- on manufacturer-specific training on these
systens than general electricians because the HVAC
electrician is also the one often installing the whole
system including refrigeration Iines and servicing the
equi prent. They receive that training by the
manuf acturers, and it's a conplete training on how the
machi ne wor ks.
| nportantly, we're not tal ki ng about expandi ng work
to unqualified individuals. This proposal would only
apply to electricians who have passed the 06A exam and
are licensed by the State under L& 's own rules. The
wor k bei ng discussed here is limted, is equipnent-side
wor k, not panel work, not service upgrades, not ful
branch circuit design. Those boundaries remain intact.
| also want to highlight that the Nationa
El ectrical Code al ready recogni zes how these systens
function. In NEC 44.8 -- 440.8 it states that an air

conditioning systemis considered a single machine,
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even when conponents are |located in different places.
That is exactly what a mni split systemis. |ndoor
and outdoor units are sinply conponents of one system
wor ki ng t oget her.

Finally, the Electrical Board and L& oversee all
el ectrical certifications in this state. This proposal
does not bypass that system It works withinit. And
as technology evolves, it is inportant for the rules to
evolve as well. Mni split systens are a nore conmmon
systemnow put in for HVAC. In fact, | would say
probably we're getting to be sone of the nost popul ar
because of our state building code rules, and energy
efficiency goals, and nodern building practices,
i ncl uding the demand from consumers for heating and
cooling considering climte change situations in this
state. Aligning our rules with -- and who can do these
systens with how these systens are actual |y designed
and installed for efficiency, reduce unnecessary costs,
and so fully protects -- we would appreciate you to
have a serious discussion about howto do this. There
are -- this is sonething that the 06As trained on, and
probably it's finally tinme for the rules to evolve with
t he technol ogy. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN JENKI NS:  Thank you nuch.

And | forgot this earlier, and | apol ogize. WII
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you speak and spell your nane for the reporter?

M5. LOGUE: Oh, | already did. |'mthe one
who di d.

CHAIRVAN JENKINS: I'min a different world,
apparently.

All right. So going back to online, |ooks |ike
Mke M Did you have sonet hing you want to speak?
M ke M

MR MOREN. Hello. Hold on. Let me -- ny
speaker going here. Hopefully that works. Yeah, ny

nane is Mke Miren, Mo-r-e-n. |'mup in Bellingham
Washington. |'ma |icensed professional engineer, and
| -- the focus -- ny -- | ama business owner. M

focus for the last 20 or so years has been onsite
sewage systens design and | arge onsite sewage systens
desi gns.

The issue | want to -- I'mbringing upis -- it was
generated froma recent electrical inspection on a
project, but it's an issue |I've dealt wth for about
20 -- over 20 years now. This particular one has an
unfavorable ruling. M discussion or talk is not to
address this specific case. But it's a nuch broader

I ssue that I'mlooking for the Board's gui dance on how

to -- howto address so we don't keep running into this
I ssue. The issue has to do with the -- the L& 's
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I nspector's interpretation of WAC 296-46B-501, which --
whi ch addresses cl assified versus unclassified spaces
and sewage and effluent punp chanbers. So the ruling
that | have -- usually I -- | have been followng this
WAC for, you know, 20-plus years and have been what |

t hought was conplying with the WAC, which is basically,
you know, if a space is deened classified Cass 1 Div 1
Is typically the classification and division that it
must neet certain electrical requirenents. |
understand that, and that's how | woul d address this,
and ot her colleagues in ny profession. W use --
utilize intrinsically safe, control panels with
intrinsically safe wiring. W utilize an

expl osi on- proof junction box for the punps, the
submer si bl e sewage punps or effluent punps. W -- and
that's primarily it.

Wiere the issue starts getting tricky is with the
punps thenselves. And on this nost recent ruling by an
L& inspector, it's the punp cord. So for nearly 20
years | have nmade an argunent about the classification
of a punp chanber, that the air space above the liquid
level is the classified D1 area that the -- that the
l'iquid, which is sewage or effluent, unit which is
99. 9-plus percent water, as verified by, you know,

t ext books and, you know, scholarly articles is
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uncl assi fied because it's nonflamuable. The liquid is
nonfl ammable. And so |'ve never -- and so when you go
to select a punp, ny ruling is that -- and the letters
that |'ve witten to L&, the various inspectors |I've
had over the years, is that a punp does not need to

be -- in a subnersed unclassified area, it does not
need to neet expl osion-proof requirenments. And | don't
think -- 1've only had one case in 20 years where an
L& inspector ruled that the -- the liquidis -- is
classified. It's part -- you're |ooking at the whole
vessel, instead of just the, you know, conpartnents or
areas within the tank. | believe this is inconsistent
w th NFPA 70, Chapter 500.5, which -- which is
classification of locations, which states that

| ocations shall be classified depending on the
properties of the flammbl e gas, flanmmble

| i qui d- produced vapor, conbustible |iquid-produced
vapors, conbustible dust or fibers that could be
present and the likelihood that a flanmabl e or
conbusti bl e concentration or quantity is present. Each
room section, or area shall be considered individually
In determning its classification. So | believe |I am
conplying with that code in classifying the |liquid
separately fromthe airspace.

And so the problemis that in the industry, we as
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designers and licensed -- |icensed septic designers and
prof essi onal engineers, we subnmt designs to the
regul atory agencies, either the DOH heal th depart nent
for laws or local (indiscernible) you know, for the
onsite sewage systens, these are designed flows under
3,500 gallons a day. And we get approvals. W -- it
goes out to construction, and the electrical part is --
Is at the very end of the construction. The electrical
equi prent, the punps, the control panels, junction
boxes, all that, have been ordered and installed by the
time the L& electrical inspector gets onsite. So if a
ruling is unfavorable, it can have a massive inpact on
a project right at the end, right when -- you know, a
|l ot of these that | dp are big repair situations. So
they're basically retaining sewage until this -- you
know, the electrical inspection is done, and then --
and they need to start being able to use their system
agai n.

So again, I'mlooking -- I'mlooking for some
gui dance fromthe Board -- let ne take a step back. |
brought this to -- I'mpart of -- |I'ma board nmenber
for the Washi ngton Onsite Sewage Association. [|'m not
here representing the board. But | took it to the
board -- board nenber, which are industry professionals

and reqgulators, and they all said at this point |
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should take it to the Electrical Board. So that's why

|'mhere today. |'mnot expecting a discussion.
understand that. But |I'mlooking for, |I guess, sone
gui dance on howto -- howto further take this issue to

the Board and open it for discussion. Wether it's the
TAC, I'mnot sure howto nove forward with this.
CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS:  Chair Jenkins here.

If you're |ooking for a discussion, | would say we
probably would pass this on to the secretary of the
Board, possibly nmoving forward with sonme other route.
But during this tinme it's public comment, so we don't
make conments on --

MR. MOREN:  Under st ood.

So and | -- so |I'll pursue that route at this
point. | did send -- | did send the secretary Wayne a
letter this norning that nore clearly, | guess,
outlines the issue. So I'll just -- I'Il just pursue
that. That's all | -- that's all | have at this tine.

CHAI RVMAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very mnuch.
Down to our |ocal here, we got Chris --
MR ZI MARDO  Zi mar do.
CHAI RMAN JENKINS:  Zimardo. |f you can spel
your nane for the court reporter.
MR ZI MARDO  Thank you.

My nane is Chris Zimardo. First nane is Gh-r-i-s.
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Last name Z, as in zebra, -i-ma-r-d-o. |I'm
representing Washi ngton Energy Services. [I'malso a
2026 TAC nenber this year. And so | want -- | cone

today because | wanted to further the discussion on
Proposal Nunber 4, which was touched on earlier during
t he di scussion, GFlI protection, outdoor HVAC. | just
want to nmake sure that we're taking into consideration
all the product that is on the market right now al
the inventory that is in all the warehouses. You know,
we have a pretty large -- you know, a decent sized
conpany. | have 15 crews. W have a large -- nore
t han one | arge warehouse, and so we have quite a bit of
HVAC back-stock, as well as breaker stock, GCFl
breakers, that kind of thing. And so as we nove --
tal k about noving forward with this new code, the GFl
protect the HVAC outdoor receptacles, we're | ooking for
alittle bit of extra tinme to get through sone of that
inventory and all ow the manufacturers to get sone --
get the new UL 943 breakers and the HVAC manufacturers
to market and give us tine to get through our old
inventory and get the new inventory that's going to
conply with this new UL listing so we are not
struggling w th nuisance tripping.

The other thing | want to discuss is Proposal 21

t hat was brought to TAC, which is in regards to
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allowm ng 06As to install the energi zed comunication
wre for mni split systens. And so | wanted to take a
mnute to go over kind of the life of an 06A so people
understand the qualifications that they have to run
this cabl e.

So I mean, first of all, the cable that we're
running, it's a trade cable. So it's a very durable
cable. It's sunlight resistant. |It's weather
resistant. And as an 06A, they have 4,000 hours of
on-the-job training. And during that training tine,
they're learning to pull nostly O ass 2 conductors,
thernostat wires, also being trained to work on
equi pnent. So in 4,000 hours, which is the sane as an
02, you know, that's a lot of tinme to |learn how to pull
w re and cables through structures. So there shouldn't
be any question that an O6A can pull a cable through a
structure, as far as fastening for supporting, as far
as sleeving for physical protection with conduit.

Now, as an 06A, as a |licensed 06A, that has passed
the exam they -- they have unlimted voltage. So
there's nolimt to the voltage that they can work on.
They're allowed to -- if you go to 920, they are
al l omwed to disconnect and reconnect energized
equi pment. They are trained and |icensed to nake

termnations for all of the electrical conponents in
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that equipnent. |If there's any issues with that

equi pnrent, they are going to troubl eshoot that

equi pnment. And again, this is going to be energized
equi pnment. And when we go back to pulling the cable,
they're pulling an unenergized cable. So it's the sane
thing that they've been doing, you know, for 4,000
hours, only unenergi zed cable. The comunication wre,
while it's being installed, is not energized. So that
needs to be taken into consideration. So there's no
safety issues that -- that should be, you know, worried
about when pulling these conductors for an 06A.

So as | go through what they're allowed to do,
they're allowed to replace el ectrical conponents. They
can actually take up to 10 feet or 30. |If they're
replacing a furnace, they can renove the disconnect on
furnace. It is, you know, 120 volts. They reinstall
t hat di sconnect. They can sleeve the cable in the sane
manner that is already installed up to 10 feet. So
t hey know how to work with conduit. They know how to
sl eeve 120-volt wire.

Now, when it goes to outdoor equipnent, they're
allowed to replace up to six feet of a width between
t he di sconnect and the equipnment. So a |icensed 06A
can take a piece of conduit, and they can attach it

wth all the fittings. They can take 240-volt wire,
Page 104

,:A‘ Capitol Pacific Reporting, Inc. scheduling@capitolpacificreporting.com

800.407.0148


https://www.capitolpacificreporting.com

© 00 N oo o A W DN PP

N N N N NN P P P P R PP PR
g A W N P O © 0 N O O » W N B O

ELECTRICAL BOARD MEETING
Transcript of Proceedings - April 30, 2026

and they can install that up to six feet. And they can
make all the term nations.

So the previous discussions that, you know, we're
worri ed about an 06A running cables that energize 240
volts, in ny opinion, really has -- it's kind of
irrel evant because they're working on -- they're
wor ki ng on energi zed equi pnent with unlimted voltage,
and they're installing conductors that carry, you know,
240 volts, and sonetinmes nore. So there's that aspect
that | think people need to think about.

They're also allowed to work on gas. So they're
all owed to connect a conductor to a groundi ng el ectrode
and bond a piece of gas pipe. So there's many --
there's many skills that these 06As have | earned that
makes themtotally qualified to this mni split wre.
| mean this mni split wire is part of a system The
HVAC equi pnent is not going to work without a wire in
bet ween the outdoor and indoor head. And so right now,
we're having Ols and 02s install that wire. The 0Ols
and 02s do not have any training on the HVAC equi pnent.
So they're leaning on the 0O6A to tell themhow to do
their job. You know, they can install the circuit, and
they're always going to install the circuit. And
that's the other thing we need to renenber is they're

al ways going to be onsite. They're always going to be
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installing that branch circuit and that di sconnect.
And so the 06A should be able to pull that cable.

06As are factory trained. So all new equi pnent or
all nodifications to HVAC equi pnent, the vendors
facilitate training. So they'll bring representatives
out fromthe factory and have extensive training for
the 06As so they know how everything functions in the
equi pnent. So if the 01 or the 02 installs that
comunication wire, and they install it in a manner
where sonething is not working, maybe they crossed the
wres, there's a termnation issue, whatever it may be,
they are going to |lean on the 06A to troubl eshoot that
equi pnment because they're the qualified technicians.
They' ve been factory trained on that equipnent. So the
06A is going to work on the energized equi pment, and
they're going to have to troubl eshoot whatever m stake
that the 01 or the 02 nmade on the equi pnment because
they're not typically famliar with the equi pnment. So
there's that part of it as well.

The other thing which | think is a big part of it
t hat should be considered is the scheduling that's
I nvol ved when trying to get HVAC technicians and 01 and
02 electricians out on the sane jobsite working on the
equi pnent. So what happens is the electrician shows

up; now they're waiting on the HVAC tech to figure out
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the routing to nount their equi pment, and they end up
wor ki ng on top of each other. So what ends up
happening is, when we bill these jobs out, as far as
pricing for our custoners, we have to -- we have no
choice but to build in extra | abor because we know
there's going to be wasted tine on the job because
you're going to have electricians and HVAC techs on top
of each other. And so, you know, the HVAC tech finally
gets the route in place, they gotta pull their -- they
gotta pull their refrigerant lines. And then the
conmuni cation wire is going to follow the exact sane
route as the refrigerant lines, but they can't pull --
they can't pull the comwre until that route is
establ i shed, and probably until that refrigerant |ine
Is pulled in. So then the HVAC guy is pulling in the
refrigerant line. Now they're hands off, and now
they're waiting for the electrician to pull on that
comuni cation wire, and vice versa. And so there're a
| ot of wasted |abor at a tine when we're trying to --
we're trying to get costs down for custoners.
|'mtrying to get housing costs down, repairs, al
these things. And we can't get our cost down because
we have to account for this |abor waste. So | think
that -- you know, |'ve heard in the past that cost is

not a part of the code. But, you know, the end user
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really needs to be considered in this, which is the
custoner, especially at a time, you know, we've got $5
a gallon gas, and things are very expensive. |It's hard
to live out here. And mni split heat punps are a way
of the future. Qur state, especially, is pushing
el ectrification of our heating systens, and so they're
getting nore and nore popular. And so to try to save
t he custoner noney, | think we need to take that into
consideration. That's all | have.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  Thank you very nuch.

Onl i ne we have Deja Brandeis.

M5. BRANDEIS: H. M nane is Deja Brandeis.
That's D-e-j-a B-r-a-n-d-e-i-s. | amhere representing
The El ectrical Conpany. W are a famly-run electrical
contractor based in Seattle since 1993, when ny dad
founded it. And |I'mhere to speak out in support of
Proposal 9 and ask the board to al so support Proposal
9. | think others have made good points so far
regarding the lack of injury data, and al so the
preference of homeowners for the traditional side
receptacl es over the pop-up receptacles, plus sone of
the potential issues for the pop-up receptacles. But |
wanted to add a couple nore points to that. One being
that when this was first added to code, our thought

was, especially as ny dad has just turned 80 and is
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very active while many people that age are not, and
having a side -- traditional side-nmounted receptacle
all ows people to age in place, and al so provides
options for people with disabilities that nmaybe can't
reach the top to get to a pop-up outlet.

And then another point 1'd like to that --
sonet hing that we've encountered -- is that when we
explain to a custoner that we either have to do a
pop-up or sonething up top, or we have to just
provi sion or peninsula for a future receptacle, they
say, "Ckay. Don't worry. I'll just have ny handyman

put in that outlet after you |leave," which to us is
opening a whole can of worns. You're presenting the
opportunity for unlicensed people to do work that may
not be adequate and nmay |lead to safety or functionality
I ssues in the future, and also potentially puts us on

t he hook because if we're the person of record on that
permt, and we can't necessarily prove what happened
after we left. | nean we passed the inspection, sure.
But are we going to potentially be on the hook for
sonmet hi ng soneone did to our work after -- maybe not

l'i kely, but responsible. So again, |'m speaking out in

favor of Proposal 9 and asking the Board to support as

wel |.  Thank you.
CHAI RVMAN JENKINS:  Thank you very nuch.
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Appreci ate that.

And novi ng back here to soneone here |ocally, Wade
Crai g.

MR CRAIG Wade Craig. |I'mwth Bob's

Heating -- Wade, Wa-d-e, last nane CGr-a-i-g, Craig --
speaking in favor of Proposal Nunber 21, and | guess
representing 06As as far as ny perspective on it. Wen
| tested for ny 06A, | was tested on the entire NEC

Much of the work, I'mnot able to do by definition.

But in the scope of the work that | do do, I'"'mable to
run thernostat conduit. [|'mable to | and voltage after
the disconnect. I'mallowed to sleeve and UL protect

| ow vol tage at the outdoor units.

And so | also served on the Technical Advisory
G oup for the Washington State Energy Code, which is
envi ronment and efficiency goals. And in that process,
they are al so cost conscious as far as affordable
housi ng. They're encouragi ng hi gh-density popul ati on
and hi gh-density buildings. And mni splits becone,
oftentimes, the solution to do that in nultiple-story
housing. In the way that they're configured right now,
oftentimes we're running refrigeration Iines on the
exterior of homes up two, three stories sonetines, and
putting that -- especially in the retrofit market,

putting that into the channel that encloses the
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refrigeration |ines.

So we get into the logistics of putting that in
pl ace so that the electricians can conme and run the com
cable. And so issues have cone up where trying to get
| adders up, trying to get tie-offs, trying to get boom
lifts in place, both for us to run our refrigeration
i nes, and then have that stay in place for the
electricians to try and tread the sanme ground that
we' ve just been.

So as Chris and Carol yn have both just spoken on,
safety of the worker is also a consideration. And the
nore people we put up in the air to do that, the nore
saf ety issues we expose ourselves to, the cost
associated with it, and the evolving technol ogy Iike
Chris had discussed that we're trained on the
connections at the equipnent. And we have experience
I ssues with the 02s treating it not like digital
conmuni cation but nore Iike voltage. And that causes
I ssues with some of this high-tech equipment. So the
ability to run that tray cable fromthe indoor head to
t he outdoor unit, follow ng the pathway as the
refrigeration lines, I'mfully in favor of that. So |
encourage the Board to consider that. Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very mnuch.

Going to the online, we have John McCam sh. The
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floor is yours.
MR. MCCAM SH. Thank you, Chair.

| would Iike to speak regarding the proposals
Number 4 and al so Nunber 9. In regards to Proposal
Nunber 4, where the GFCl protection for HVAC, the --
the deadline or the expiration date woul d be extended
out to 2029. | work for Eaton, and |'mrepresenting
Eaton in these comments, just to address a few
concerns. Personally, | don't think there's an issue
W th extending that date, but to extend it to 2029
woul d be doing the citizens of Washington a really
great disservice.

There's been a | ot of concern about existing HVAC
stock and what is conpatible out there. It's not a
matter of changing the HVAC units as nmuch as it is
changi ng the breakers. Qur current high-frequency G-Cl
breaker, which will be avail able by Septenber, in all
configurations, single-pull and two-pull. And |I'msure
ot her manufacturers are on top of this as well is
capabl e of handling nodern current HVAC units. The
I ssue that has been happening in the industry that has
been a source of a nuisance tripping is that in order
to conply with certain energy star requirenents, for
| ack of a better word, or other energy restrictions is

that by adding a VFD to the air conditioning unit, the
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manuf acturers of the HVAC equi pnent put a | arge anount
of electrical current on the equi pnment grounding
conductor. The UL standard for GFCI protection is only
witten around the 60 hertz guideline. There's no
requi rement prior to this for outside of the 60 hertz
realm And so when these HVAC units we're putting in a
hi gh-frequency current on the equi pnment groundi ng
conductor, the G-FCI was seeing this. Wth the new HF
G-Cl, which would be available as a C ass A device --
and frankly, we are doing all of our breakers all of
our breakers this way with the new HF starting in
Septenber -- then it should be conpatible with existing
HVAC as well. So | say that to alleviate the concerns
about existing equi pnent that you already have in stock
because that is a significant investnent, and you'd
want to be able to use that.

Now, soneone spoke earlier regarding extending this
deadl i ne and whether it's really necessary. That's up
to you to decide if it's necessary or not. | can't say
anyt hi ng about that, but | can give you the infornmation
necessary to nake that decision. There should be
plenty of equipnent at the distribution Ievel as far as
breakers are concerned to accommodate this. But should
you decide to delay it six nonths, a year, | think the

suggestion of delaying three years is sinply not
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necessary in the least. So | encourage you to consider
t hat .

Thank you, M. Chair. And if there's tinme, | would
i ke to speak on Proposal Nunmber 9.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: You're welconme to it now
You're still under 15 mnutes. Keep going.
MR. MCCAM SH. Thank you, M. Chair.

So in regards to Proposal Nunber 9, there's been
some things addressed -- and | frankly don't have a dog
in this fight, other than to bring sone education in
it. | served on Code Making Panel 2 in the 2023 cycle
when t hese decisions were nmade by us, and there was far
nore than 44 incidents that people were injured. They
were -- and they were not all children. Many people
were in -- there were sone people in wheelchairs that
were injured. There were ol der people wal king by and
snagging a cord and were injured. And even a snall
infant had a finger anputated as a result of an injury
pul I i ng down an appliance, whether it was a crock pot,
a toaster oven, or a fryer onto them

Anot her concern that was brought up was how this
woul d be interpreted by the comunity of people who may
be physically disabled. | also serve on NFPA DARAC
That's Disability Accessibility Review and Advisory

Commttee. And we have di scussed this, and we are al so
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going to address this with additional information in
the 2029 code, although it is not changing. The
commttee on DARAC has historically been in ful

support of this change. And the appropriate |ocation
wi thin the applicable reach distances that are in the
ADA woul d suffice or a pop-up receptacle or a
receptacle that is on the countertop as well. Like |
said earlier, it's up to the State. | don't have a dog
in this fight either way, other than the safety that

t he nodel code provides and the history of injuries in
this area.

As an aside, this becane code in 1996. And it
becane code because of the cord -- because of the
concern about extension cords being extended over to an
I sl and, although there was no substantiation of those
Injuries ever happening. And the International
Associ ation of Electrical Inspectors spoke against this
code in 1996 when it was adopted. And so before that
time, we did not have injuries. After that tinme there
was a significant nunber of injuries, and it was
anal yzed by Code Making Panel 2 in the 2023 cycle to
warn that there were significant injuries to change
thi s code.

So that's a little educational background for you

all as you nmake your decision regarding that topic.
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Thank you for your tinme.
CHAI RMAN JENKINS:  Thank you very nuch.
Appreci ate that.

Movi ng on we have Joseph Irons. It |ooks |ike you

have your hand up.

MR IRONS: Hello. Yes. Thanks. Joseph
| rons, |ocal builder/renodel er out of Shoreline,
Washington. | wanted to talk in support of Proposal
Number 9, as | agree with all the others that have
supported it. M/ concern, we have an affl uent
clientele that can afford pop-up outlets, but not
everyone can. And if their code requires themto make
it electrical ready, as Deja said, soneone else is
going to scab sonething after and nmay not be safe.
Qt her people -- and | don't disagree wth his coments
saying there are injuries. |'mnot naive to say
soneone's not going to hit a coffee pot off or a fryer
and hurt soneone. But that's the responsibility of the
honmeowner to take good due diligence on what they're
doing in their hone.

The neglect -- if this is put in for safety in the
first place, if you're renoving the outlet that's going
to be closer to use -- and all these appliances have a
one-foot, two-foot cord, short cords on them-- soneone

Is going to be forced to use an electrical cord, and
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soneone will trip. And | think if safety is the utnost
I mportant, why are we not nmandating pop-up outlets and
havi ng those mandated. Wth that said, | amall for
not mandating them and have themon the side of the

I sl and because |I think there is not sufficient data.
Wien | google, | can find mninmal data as far as
injuries. | did not sit on the code council as the
past person just spoke. That was his interpretation on
when things canme into place. But | do know as an
affordability aspect that the people that are going to
suffer are the people who can't afford these pop-up
outlets, and they're going to do sonething that
probably is not going to nmeet code in the first place
because soneone is going to say it's down here, you can
scab one in later, they're going to have sone handyman
do it that may be nore of a potential risk, or again
use an electric cord, and that appliance is nore
dangerous than not having a receptacle in the first

pl ace.

As the prior person spoke, and he said in 1996 it
was required to have a receptacle in there because the
potential of electrical cord being a bigger risk. And
|''mnot just saying the electrical cord. Appliances
typically have a higher draw. People who are going to

be using electrical cords that are not going to be
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rated for kitchen appliances as well. They're going to
use really light-gauge wires. Again, Joseph |Irons out
of Shoreline, Washington, |ocal renodel er/buil der
speaking in support of Proposal Nunmber 9. Thank you.

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Thank you very nuch.

| s there anybody el se online or local interested in
speaki ng?

BRI AN HORNBACK:  Brian Hornback, part of Labor
and Industries. |'mhere and available to tal k about
the process for hiring a new chief electrical inspector
i f the Board would |ike to hear.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: | am

MR HORNBACK: For the court reporter, Brian
Hor nback, Deputy Assistant Director for custoner
service, conpliance code safety. It is spelled
B-r-i-a-n. Last nanme is Hornback, H o0-r-n-b-a-c-k.

So as you know, as the Board knows, Chief
Mol esworth has elected to retire effective June 30t h.
So our process hasn't been laid out and we're still
finalizing it. Were we're at right nowis having two
panel s of interviews for the perspective candi dates.
That first panel will actually start next week. So we
have a panel of internal -- internal staff made up

primarily of folks that have el ectrical experience and

experience within our program So if, like, public
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safety chief and -- and then several people fromthe
program are gathering input from people that are going
to have to work (indiscernible). So that's Panel 1.
The second panel will be conmposed primarily of |eaders
fromthe Departnent and focuses nuch on the technica
capabilities of the chief as on the | eadership and
managenent capabilities of the chief. That's a big
part of it.

The third part is not normally a traditional
hiring -- | guess you'd call it a hiring process -- is
we're working to establish a nmeet-and-greet opportunity
for external stakeholders. So I'mconpiling that |ist
yesterday and today of external stakehol ders who m ght
have an interest in expressing opinion on the
candi date's capabilities of this Departnent of Labor
and Industries. That one is not necessarily a
yes-or-no vote, pass/fail kind of thing, but certainly
we want to take the feedback fromthem And that one
woul d be -- we would bring the top -- depending on the
nunber -- two to four candi dates, and dependi ng on how
they separate thenselves in the interviews. Actually
two to four candidates to cone to that neet-and-greet
opportunity. We're going to have those tentatively on
the 12th or 13th of May. Trying to get that schedul ed

right now And we will continue to reach out to those
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possibilities.

And then fromthere we would make the final
decision. The intent being to have the new chief by
the first of June. That's an incredibly aggressive
tinmeline given that we haven't started interviews yet.
But that's what we're |ooking at for process. And the
I dea of having sonmeone in place the first part of June
woul d have plenty of overlap so that we get a good
handof f of current issues that they can -- the new
chief, if they haven't already heard these
conversations around what was happening wth the
initiatives that are out there, and what's happeni ng
wth staffing | evels, and those kind of things to nake
it -- and hopefully have a snooth transition in the
process. So | just wanted to informyou that's what it
| ooks like. |'mhappy to take questions, although |I'm
not sure there's a lot nore information on it.

CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Al right. Chair Jenkins.

Are there any questions fromthe Board?

(No response.)
CHAI RVAN JENKINS:  Seei ng no hands up, thank
you so nmuch for your tine.
MR HORNBACK: Thank you.
CHAI RVAN JENKINS: Thanks for the information
on that. Appreciate that.
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Al right. So we're on Item Nunber 11, which is
not on our agenda, which the chair would entertain a
notion to end the Electrical Board neeting for today.

BOARD MEMBER NORD: Board Menber Nord.

Mot i on.
CHAI RVAN JENKINS: W have a notion
Do we have a second?

BOARD MEMBER JOHNSON: Board Menber Johnson.
Second.

CHAl RVAN JENKINS:  We have a notion. W have
a second. Any discussion?

(No response.)

CHAI RMAN JENKI NS: Hearing and seei ng none,
all in favor of ending the April 30th Electrical Board
meeting, signify by saying "aye."

(Chorus of ayes.)

CHAI RVAN JENKI NS:  Any opposed?

(No response.)

CHAI RMAN JENKI NS: Mdtion passes. Thank you

very nuch, and | appreciate you all attending.

(Meeting concluded at 12:20 p.m)
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CERTI FI CATE

|, JANETTE CURLEY, a Certified Stenographic Court
Reporter in and for the State of Washi ngton, residing
at Kingston, do hereby certify:

That the foregoing proceedi ngs were reported by nme
and thereafter reduced to a typed fornmat under ny
direction; that the transcript consisting of pages 1
through 122 is a full, true and conplete transcript of
sai d proceedi ngs;

That as a CCRin this state, | am bound by the Rul es
of Conduct as Codified in WAC 308-14-130; that court
reporting arrangenents and fees in this case are
offered to all parties on equal terms; that | amnot a
rel ati ve, enpl oyee, attorney or counsel of any party to
this action, or relative or enployee of any such
attorney or counsel, and | amnot financially
interested in the said action or the outcone thereof;

That upon conpl etion, the original transcript wll
be securely seal ed and served upon the appropriate
party.

I N WTNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set nmy hand this

17t h day of May, 2026. Cil,L)szﬂatvL—

Janette Curley, CCR No. 2030
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